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In memory of 1.1 million men,
women and children
who died at Auschwitz


Praise for Auschwitz

‘An important contribution to our understanding of the Second World War … Rees’s great urge to comprehend the mentality of the SS camp administrators and guards is fired not just by a passionate curiosity, but by an intellectual honesty that the subject badly needs.’

Anthony Beevor, author of Stalingrad and Berlin, the Downfall 1945

‘A history of Auschwitz that is accessible and authoritative … Rees does not shy away from the hard questions about human behaviour in extremis and his unobtrusive moral reflections make this not only a useful but a necessary book.’

Professor David Cesarani, author of Eichmann: His Life and Crimes

‘Laurence Rees casts new light on how Auschwitz was created and developed into the ultimate place of horror, the lasting symbol of Nazi inhumanity. This admirable book deserves to be widely read.’

Professor Ian Kershaw, author of Hitler, 1889–1936: Hubris and Hitler, 1936–1945: Nemesis

‘Highly compelling. This pathbreaking work reveals the “destructive dynamism” of the Nazis’ most notorious death camp. Rees … consistently offers new insights … He gives a vivid portrait of the behind-the-scenes workings of the camp.’

Publishing Week

‘Half the British population, apparently, have never heard of Auschwitz. Some of the other half think that there is nothing left to say about it. But Laurence Rees … shows that there is a great deal left to discover. Some of this comes from his admirable hunt for witnesses, both survivors and SS perpetrators … Rees has spent years patiently coaxing them to talk as the end of their life approaches.’

Neal Ascherson, Observer

‘Scrupulous and honest, this book is utterly without illusions … Rees, a distinguished journalist and historian at the BBC, layers these details with little fanfare but great craftsmanship … Reading this book is an ordeal – not through any failure of the author’s but because of his success … Rees’s research is impeccable and intrepid. Rees also makes good use of the records that became available only after the collapse of the Soviet Union and its satellites … spare, heartbreaking prose.’

David Von Drehle, Washington Post

‘… [an] excellent history of Auschwitz. By his patient accumulation of evidence, Rees seeks to refute Himmler’s cynical pledge that the destruction of Jews was to be an “unwritten page of glory”. Rees disproves the common notion that Auschwitz staff were uniformly sadists.’

Ian Thomson, Guardian

‘Laurence Rees’s work is as compelling and intensely moving as the BBC series it accompanies … this heartrending and passionate book.’

The Tribune


INTRODUCTION

THERE IS MUCH in this book that is upsetting, but I still think it is a necessary piece of work. Not just for the obvious reason that surveys1 still show that there is confusion in the popular consciousness about the true history of Auschwitz, but also because I hope it offers something distinctive.

It is the culmination of 15 years of writing books and making television programmes about the Nazis, and is an attempt to show how one of the worst crimes in history is best understood through the prism of one physical place: Auschwitz. Unlike the history of anti-Semitism, Auschwitz has one certain beginning (the first Polish prisoners arrived on 14 June 1940), and unlike the history of genocide, it has one definite end (the camp was liberated on 27 January 1945). In between these two dates Auschwitz had a complex and surprising history that in many ways mirrored the intricacies of Nazi racial and ethnic policy. It was never conceived as a camp to kill Jews, it was never solely concerned with the ‘Final Solution’ – though that came to dominate the place – and it was always physically changing, often in response to the constant shifts in fortunes of the German war effort elsewhere. Auschwitz, through its destructive dynamism, was the physical embodiment of the fundamental values of the Nazi state.

The study of Auschwitz also offers us something other than an insight into the Nazis; it gives us the chance to understand how human beings behaved in some of the most extreme conditions in history. From this story there is a great deal we can learn about ourselves.

This is a book based on unique research – around 100 specially conducted interviews with former Nazi perpetrators and survivors from the camp – and draws on hundreds more interviews conducted for my previous work on the Third Reich, many with former members of the Nazi party2. The benefit of meeting and questioning survivors and perpetrators is immense. It offers an opportunity for a level of insight that is rarely available from written sources alone. Indeed, although since my school days I had always been interested in this period of history, I can trace my own deep fascination with the Third Reich to one moment during a conversation with a former member of the Nazi party back in 1990. While writing and producing a film about Dr Josef Goebbels, I talked to Wilfred von Oven who, as his personal attaché, had worked closely with the infamous Nazi propaganda minister. After the formal interview, over a cup of tea, I asked this intelligent and charming man: ‘If you could sum up your experience of the Third Reich in just one word, what would it be?’ As Herr von Oven thought for a moment and considered the question, I guessed his response would make reference to the horrible crimes of the regime – crimes he freely admitted had occurred – and of the damage Nazism had wreaked upon the world. ‘Well,’ he finally said, ‘if I was asked to sum up my experience of the Third Reich in one word, that word would be – Paradise.’

‘Paradise’? That didn’t coincide with anything I had read in my history books. Nor did it square with the elegant, sophisticated man who sat in front of me, who did not, come to that, look or talk as I had imagined a former Nazi should. But ‘Paradise’? How was it possible that he could say such a thing? How could any intelligent person think of the Third Reich and its atrocities in such a way? Indeed, how was it possible that during the twentieth century people from Germany, a cultured nation at the heart of Europe, had ever perpetrated such crimes? Those were the questions that formed in my mind that afternoon all those years ago, and that still sit heavily in my mind today.

In my attempt to answer them I was helped by two accidents of history. The first was that I set out to question former Nazis at exactly the point at which most of them had nothing to lose by speaking openly. Fifteen years earlier, holding down influential jobs and pillars of their communities, they would not have spoken. Today most of them, including the charming Herr von Oven, are dead.

It often took months, in some cases years, to persuade them to allow us to record an interview. We can never know exactly what tipped the balance and made an individual agree to be filmed, but in many cases they clearly felt that, nearing the end of their lives, they wanted to put on record – warts and all – their experiences of these momentous times; they also believed that the BBC would not distort their contribution. I would add that I think only the BBC would have given us the necessary support to pursue this enterprise. The research period for these projects was so long that only a public service broadcaster could have made such a commitment.

The second break I had was that my interest coincided with the fall of the Berlin Wall and the opening up of eastern Europe; and it was not just the archives that suddenly became available for research, but the people as well. I had filmed in the Soviet Union in 1989 under Communism, and back then it was hard to get anyone to speak about their nation’s history in anything other than propaganda slogans. Now, suddenly, in the 1990s, it was as if a dam had broken and all the suppressed memories and opinions came tumbling out. In the Baltic states I heard people say how they had welcomed the Nazis as liberators; on the wild steppes of Kalmykia I learnt first hand about Stalin’s vindictive deportations of whole ethnic communities; in Siberia I met veterans who had been imprisoned twice – once by Hitler and once by the Soviet dictator; and in a village near Minsk I encountered a woman who had been caught in the middle of the most vicious partisan war in modern history and, on reflection, thought the Red Army partisans were worse than the Nazis. All of these deeply held convictions would have died with the people who held them had Communism not fallen.

I also encountered something more frightening as I travelled around these newly liberated countries, from Lithuania to the Ukraine and from Serbia to Belarus: virulent anti-Semitism. I had expected people to tell me how much they hated the Communists; that seemed only natural now. But to hate Jews? It seemed ludicrous, especially since there were hardly any Jews in the places I was visiting – Hitler and the Nazis had seen to that. Yet the old man in the Baltic states who had helped the Nazis shoot Jews in 1941 still thought he had done the right thing 60 years ago. And even some of those who had fought against the Nazis held wild anti-Semitic beliefs. I remember the question one Ukrainian veteran put to me over lunch. He was a man who had fought bravely for the Ukrainian Nationalist partisans against both the Nazis and the Red Army and been persecuted as result. ‘What do you think,’ he asked me, ‘of the view that there is an international conspiracy of Jewish financiers operating out of New York which is trying to destroy all non-Jewish governments?’ I looked at him for a second. Not being Jewish myself, it is always something of a shock to encounter naked anti-Semitism from an unexpected source. ‘What do I think of that view?’ I replied finally. ‘I think it’s total garbage.’ The old partisan took a sip of vodka. ‘Really,’ he said. ‘That’s your opinion. Interesting …’

What shocked me most of all was that these anti-Semitic views were not just confined to the older generation. I remember the woman at the Lithuanian Airways check-in desk who, after learning the subject of the film we were making, said, ‘You’re interested in the Jews, are you? Well, just remember this – Marx was a Jew.’ Or, also in Lithuania, I recall an army officer in his mid-twenties showing me round the site of the 1941 Jewish massacres at a fort in Kaunas and saying, ‘You’re missing the big story, you know. The story isn’t what we did to the Jews. It’s what the Jews did to us.’ I do not claim for a moment that everyone – or even the majority – in the eastern European countries I visited subscribes to these views; but that this kind of prejudice is openly expressed at all is disturbing.

All this should be remembered by those people who think that the history in this book is of little relevance today. And it should also be mulled over by those who think that corrosive anti-Semitism was somehow confined to the Nazis or even to Hitler. Indeed, the view that the crime of the extermination of the Jews was somehow imposed by a few mad people upon an unwilling Europe is one of the most dangerous of all. There was nothing ‘uniquely exterminatory’ – to use the current academic buzzwords – about German society before the Nazis came to power. How could there have been, when many Jews fled from anti-Semitism in eastern Europe in the 1920s to seek sanctuary in Germany?

Yet there is something about the mentality of the Nazis that seems at odds with the perpetrators who flourished in many other totalitarian regimes. That was certainly the conclusion I reached after completing three separate projects on World War II, each a book and television series: first The Nazis: A Warning from History, then War of the Century, an examination of the war between Stalin and Hitler, and finally Horror in the East, an attempt to understand the Japanese psyche during the 1930s and World War II. One unplanned consequence of this experience is that it puts me in a unique position as the only person I know of who has met and questioned a significant number of perpetrators from all three of the major wartime totalitarian powers: Germany, Japan and the Soviet Union. Having done so, I can confirm that the Nazi war criminals I met were different.

In the Soviet Union the climate of fear under Stalin was pervasive in a way it never was in Germany under Hitler until the last days of the war. The description one former Soviet air force officer gave me of open meetings in the 1930s, when anyone could be denounced as an ‘enemy of the people’, still haunts me to this day. No one was safe from the knock at the door at midnight. No matter how well you tried to conform, no matter how many slogans you spouted, such was Stalin’s malevolence that nothing you did or said or thought could save you if the spotlight picked you out. But in Nazi Germany, unless you were a member of a specific risk group – the Jews, the Communists, the gypsies, homosexuals, the ‘work-shy’ and, indeed, anyone who opposed the regime – you could live comparatively free from fear. Despite all the recent academic work that rightly emphasizes how the Gestapo relied hugely upon denunciations from members of the public to do its work,3 the central truth still holds that the majority of the German population, almost certainly right up until the moment Germany started to lose the war, felt so personally secure and happy that they would have voted to keep Hitler in power if there had been free and fair elections. By contrast, in the Soviet Union not even Stalin’s closest, most loyal colleagues ever felt they could sleep securely.

The consequence of this for those who perpetrated crimes at Stalin’s behest was that the suffering they inflicted was so arbitrary that they often did not know the reasons for it. For example, the former Soviet secret policeman I met who bundled up Kalmyks and put them on trains to exile in Siberia still did not have a clear idea about what was behind the policy even today. He had one stock response when asked why he had taken part – ironically, it is the one most commonly ascribed to Nazis in popular myth; he said he had been ‘acting under orders’. He had committed a crime because he was told to, and knew that if he failed to do so then he would be shot, and he trusted that his bosses knew what they were doing. Which meant, of course, that when Stalin died and Communism fell he was free to move on and leave the past behind. It also shows up Stalin as a cruel, bullying dictator who has many parallels in history, not least in our own time with Saddam Hussein.

Then there were the Japanese war criminals I encountered who committed some of the most appalling atrocities in modern history. In China, Japanese soldiers split open the stomachs of pregnant women and bayoneted the foetuses; they tied up local farmers and used them for target practice; they tortured thousands of innocent people in ways that rival the Gestapo at their worst; and they were pursuing deadly medical experiments long before Dr Mengele and Auschwitz. These were the people who were supposed to be ‘inscrutable’. But on examination they turned out to be nothing of the kind. They had grown up in an intensely militaristic society, had been subjected to military training of the most brutal sort, had been told since they were children to worship their Emperor (who was also their commander-in-chief) and lived in a culture that historically elevated the all-too-human desire to conform into a semi-religion. All this was encapsulated by one veteran who told me that when he had been asked to take part in the gang rape of a Chinese woman he saw it less as a sexual act and more as a sign of final acceptance by the group, many of whom had previously bullied him mercilessly. Like the Soviet secret policemen I met, these Japanese veterans attempted to justify their actions almost exclusively with reference to an external source – the regime itself.

Something different appears in the minds of many Nazi war criminals and is encapsulated in this book by the interview with Hans Friedrich who admits, as a member of an SS unit in the East, to having personally shot Jews. Even today, with the Nazi regime long defeated, he is not sorry for what he did. The easy course for him would be to hide behind the ‘acting under orders’ or ‘I was brainwashed by propaganda’ excuses, but such is the strength of his own internal conviction that he does not. At the time he personally believed it was right to shoot Jews, and he gives every appearance of still believing it today. It is a loathsome, despicable position – but nonetheless an intriguing one. And the contemporary evidence shows that he is not unique. At Auschwitz, for example, there is not one case in the records of an SS man being prosecuted for refusing to take part in the killings, whilst there is plenty of material showing that the real discipline problem in the camp – from the point of view of the SS leadership – was theft. The ordinary members of the SS thus appear to have agreed with the Nazi leadership that it was right to kill the Jews, but disagreed with Himmler’s policy of not letting them individually profit from the crime. And the penalties for an SS man caught stealing could be draconian – almost certainly worse than for simply refusing to take an active part in the killing.

Thus the conclusion I reached, not just from interviews but also from subsequent archival research4 and discussion with academic researchers, was that there was a greater likelihood of individuals who committed crimes within the Nazi system taking personal responsibility for their actions than war criminals who served Stalin or Hirohito. Of course, that is a generalization and there will be individuals within each regime who do not conform to that type. And all these regimes certainly had much in common – not least a reliance on intense ideological progaganda imposed from above. But as a generalization it appears to hold good, and is all the more curious given the rigid training of the SS and the popular stereotype of German soldiers as automatons. As we shall see, this tendency for individual Nazis who committed crimes to feel more personally in control contributed to the development of both Auschwitz and the ‘Final Solution’.

It is worth trying to understand why so many of the former Nazis I have met over the last 15 years appear to find an internal justification for their crimes (‘I thought it was the right thing to do’) rather than an external one (‘I was ordered to do it’). One obvious explanation is that the Nazis carefully built on pre-existing convictions. Anti-Semitism existed in Germany long before Adolf Hitler, and plenty of other people blamed the Jews, falsely, for Germany’s defeat in World War I. In fact, the whole of the Nazis’ initial political programme in the early 1920s was virtually indistinguishable from those of countless other nationalistic right-wing parties. Hitler brought no originality of political thought; what he brought was originality of leadership. And when the Depression gripped Germany in the early 1930s, millions of Germans voluntarily turned to the Nazis for a solution to the country’s ills. No one in the elections of 1932 was forced at gunpoint to vote for the Nazis, and the Nazis went on to gain power within the existing law.

Another clear reason why the belief system amongst so many Nazis was internalized was the work of Dr Josef Goebbels,5 who was much the most effective propagandist of the twentieth century. In popular myth he is often dismissed as a crude polemicist, infamous for Der ewige Jude (The Eternal Jew), a notorious film in which shots of Jews were intercut with pictures of rats. But in reality the vast majority of his work was much more sophisticated and much more insidious. It was Hitler who was more keen on obvious hate-filled films like Der ewige Jude; Goebbels disliked that rudimentary approach, preferring the much more subtle Jud Süs, a drama in which a beautiful ‘Aryan’ girl was raped by a Jew. Goebbels’ own audience research (a science he was obsessed with) revealed that he was right; cinemagoers much preferred to see propaganda films where, as he put it, ‘they cannot see the art in it’.

Goebbels believed that it was always preferable to reinforce the existing prejudice of the audience rather than to try to change someone’s mind. On those occasions when it was necessary to attempt to alter the views of the German people, his technique was to move ‘like a convoy – always at the speed of the slowest vessel’6 and constantly to reiterate, in subtly different ways, the message he wanted the audience to receive. And in doing so he rarely tried to tell the viewers anything; he showed images and told stories that led ordinary Germans to reach the conclusion he wanted, whilst leaving them thinking they had worked it out for themselves.

During the 1930s Hitler, to Goebbels’ approval, did not often try to impose policies on the majority of the population against their wishes. This was a radical regime, of course, but one that preferred the consent of the majority, and relied to a large extent for the dynamism it so desired upon individual initiative coming from below – all of which meant that when it came to the persecution of the Jews the Nazis progressed gingerly. Central though the hatred of the Jews was to Hitler, it was not a policy he overtly pushed in the elections of the early 1930s. He did not hide his anti-Semitism, but he and the Nazis consciously emphasized other policies, such as their desire to ‘right the wrongs’ of the Versailles treaty, get the unemployed back to work and restore a sense of national pride. In the immediate aftermath of Hitler becoming Chancellor there was an outpouring of violence against the German Jews, orchestrated to a large extent by Nazi stormtroopers. There was also a boycott of Jewish businesses (supported by Goebbels, an ardent anti-Semite), but this only lasted for one day. The Nazi leadership were concerned about public opinion both at home and abroad; in particular they didn’t want their anti-Semitism to make Germany a pariah state. Two more anti-Semitic upsurges – one in 1936 with the advent of the Nuremberg Laws withdrawing citizenship from German Jews, and the second in 1938 with the burning of synagogues and the imprisonment of tens of thousands of Jews at the time of Kristallnacht – marked the other significant pre-war moments in the Nazi persecution of the Jews. But overall the pace of Nazi anti-Semitic policy was gradual, and many Jews tried to stick out life in Hitler’s Germany during the 1930s. Nazi propaganda against the Jews proceeded (with the exception of fringe fanatics like Julius Streicher and his outrageous anti-Semitic rag Der Stürmer) at Goebbels’ speed of the slowest vessel in the convoy, with neither of the overtly anti-Semitic films, Der ewige Jude or Jud Süss, shown until after the war had begun.

This notion that the Nazis proceeded incrementally against the Jews goes against the understandable desire to point to a single moment when one crucial decision was made for the ‘Final Solution’ and the gas chambers of Auschwitz. But this history is not so easily resolved. The decisions that led to the sophistication of a killing technique that delivered families to their deaths by a railway link which stopped only metres from the crematoria, took years to evolve. The Nazi regime was one that practised what one historian famously called ‘cumulative radicalisation’,7 whereby each decision often led to a crisis that led to a still more radical decision. The most obvious example of how events could spiral into catastrophe was the food crisis in the Łódź ghetto in the summer of 1941 – a situation that led one Nazi functionary to ask whether the most ‘humane solution might not be to finish off those of the Jews who are not fit for work by means of some quick-working device’.8 Thus the idea of extermination is offered up out of ‘humanity’. It should be remembered, of course, that it was the policies of the Nazi leadership that had created the food crisis in the Łódź ghetto in the first place.

This does not mean that Hitler was not to blame for the crime – he undoubtedly was – but he was responsible in a more sinister way than simply calling his subordinates together on one particular day and forcing the decision upon them. All the leading Nazis knew their Führer prized one quality in policy-making above all others: radicalism. Hitler once said that he wanted his generals to be like ‘dogs straining on a leash’ (and in this they most often failed him). His love of radicalism, plus his technique of encouraging massive competition within the Nazi leadership often by appointing two people to do more or less the same job, meant that there was intense dynamism in the political and administrative system – plus intense inherent instability. Everyone knew how much Hitler hated the Jews, everyone heard his 1939 speech in the Reichstag during which he predicted the ‘extermination’ of the European Jews if they ‘caused’ a world war, and so everyone in the Nazi leadership knew the kind of policy towards the Jews to suggest – the more radical the better.

Hitler was massively preoccupied with one task during World War II: trying to win it. He spent much less time on the Jewish question than on the intricacies of military strategy. His attitude to Jewish policy is likely to have been similar to the instructions he gave to the Gauleiters (regional leaders) of Danzig, West Prussia and the Warthegau when he told them he wanted their areas Germanized, and once they had accomplished the task he promised to ask them ‘no questions’ about how they had done it. In just such a manner it is not hard to imagine Hitler saying to Himmler in December 1941 that he wanted the Jews ‘exterminated’ and that he would ask him ‘no questions’ about how he had achieved the desired result. We cannot know for sure whether the conversation went this way, of course, because during the war Hitler was careful to use Himmler as a buffer between himself and the implementation of the ‘Final Solution’. Hitler knew the scale of the crime the Nazis were contemplating and he did not want any document linking him to it. But his fingerprints are everywhere – from his open rhetoric of hatred to the close correlation between Himmler’s meetings with Hitler at his East Prussian headquarters and the subsequent radicalization of the persecution and murder of the Jews.

It is hard to convey the excitement that leading Nazis felt at serving a man who dared to dream in such epic terms. Hitler had dreamt of defeating France in weeks – the very country in which the German army had been stuck for years during World War I – and he had succeeded. He had dreamt of conquering the Soviet Union, and in the summer and autumn of 1941 it looked almost certain that he would win. And he dreamt of exterminating the Jews, which in some ways was to prove the easiest task of all.

Hitler’s ambitions were certainly on a grand scale – but they were all ultimately destructive, the ‘Final Solution’ the most conceptually destructive of them all. It is of significance that in 1940 two Nazis who would subsequently become leading figures in the development and implementation of the ‘Final Solution’ both separately acknowledged that mass murder would go against the ‘civilized’ values to which even they aspired. Heinrich Himmler wrote that ‘physically exterminating a people’ was ‘fundamentally un-German’, and Reinhard Heydrich recorded that ‘biological extermination is undignified for the German people as a civilized nation’.9 But step by step, within the next 18 months, ‘physically exterminating a people’ was just the policy they would be embracing.

Tracing how Hitler, Himmler, Heydrich and other leading Nazis created both their ‘Final Solution’ and Auschwitz offers us the chance to see in action a dynamic and radical decision-making process of great complexity. There was no blueprint for the crime imposed from above, nor one devised from below and simply acknowledged from the top. Individual Nazis were not coerced by crude threats to commit murders themselves. No, this was a collective enterprise owned by thousands of people, who made the decision themselves not just to take part but to contribute initiatives in order to solve the problem of how to kill human beings and dispose of their bodies on a scale never attempted before.

As we follow the journey upon which both the Nazis and those whom they persecuted embarked, we also gain a great deal of insight into the human condition. And what we learn is mostly not good. In this history, suffering is almost never redemptive. Although there are, on very rare occasions, extraordinary people who act virtuously, for the most part this is a story of degradation. It is hard not to agree with the verdict of Else Baker, sent to Auschwitz as an eight-year-old, that ‘the level of human depravity is unfathomable’. However, if there is a spark of hope, it is in the power of the family as a sustaining force. Heroic acts are committed by those sent to the camps, for the sake of a father, mother, brother, sister or child.

Perhaps above all, though, Auschwitz and the Nazis’ ‘Final Solution’ demonstrate the power of the situation to influence behaviour to a greater extent than we might like to imagine. It is a view confirmed by one of the toughest and bravest survivors of the death camps, Toivi Blatt, who was forced by the Nazis to work in Sobibór and then risked his life to escape: ‘People asked me,’ he says, ‘“What did you learn?”, and I think I’m only sure of one thing – nobody knows themselves. The nice person on the street, you ask him “Where is North Street?” and he goes with you half a block and shows you, and is nice and kind. That same person in a different situation could be the worst sadist. Nobody knows themselves. All of us could be good people or bad people in these [different] situations. Sometimes when somebody is really nice to me I find myself thinking, “How will he be in Sobibór?”’10

What these survivors have taught me (and, if I am honest, I learnt it from the perpetrators as well) is that human behaviour is fragile and unpredictable and often at the mercy of the situation. Every individual still, of course, has a choice as to how to behave; it is just that for many people the situation is a key determinant in that choice. Even those unusual individuals – Adolf Hitler himself, for example – who appear to be masters of their own destiny were to a considerable extent created by their response to previous situations. The Adolf Hitler known to history was substantially formed by the interaction between the pre-war Hitler, who was a worthless drifter, and the events of World War I, which was a global conflict over which he had no control. I know not a single serious scholar of the subject who thinks that Hitler could ever have risen to prominence without the transformation he underwent during that war, and the sense of intense bitterness he felt when Germany lost. Thus we can go further than saying, ‘No World War I, no Hitler as German Chancellor’, and say, ‘No World War I, no individual who ever became the Hitler that history knows’. And whilst, of course, Hitler decided for himself how to behave (and in the process made a series of personal choices that made him utterly deserving of all the obloquy heaped upon him), he was made possible only by that specific historical situation.

However, this history also shows us that if individuals can be buffeted around by the situation, then groups of human beings working together can create better cultures, which in turn can help individuals to behave more virtuously. The story of how the Danes rescued their Jews, and of how they ensured the Jews had a warm welcome when they returned at the end of the war, is a striking example of that. The culture in Denmark of a strong and widely held belief in human rights helped make the majority of individuals behave in a noble way. But one must not be overly romantic about the Danish experience. The Danes too were influenced hugely by situational factors outside their control: the timing of the Nazi attack on the Danish Jews (at a point when the Germans were clearly losing the war); the geography of their country (which allowed for a relatively straightforward escape across a narrow stretch of water to neutral Sweden); and the lack of a concerted effort by the SS to enforce the deportations. Nonetheless, it is reasonable to conclude that one form of partial protection against more atrocities like Auschwitz lies in individuals collectively ensuring the cultural mores of their society are antipathetic to such suffering. The overtly Darwinian ideals of Nazism, which rested on telling every ‘Aryan’ German he or she was racially superior, created, of course, precisely the reverse effect.

In the end, though, there is a profound sense of sadness around this subject that cannot be reduced. Throughout the time I was working on this project the voices I heard loudest were those of the people whom we could not interview: the 1.1 million human beings who were murdered in Auschwitz, and in particular the more than 200,000 children who perished there and were denied the right to grow up and experience life. One image stuck in my mind from the moment I heard it described. It was of a ‘procession’11 of empty baby carriages – property looted from the dead Jews – pushed out of Auschwitz in rows of five towards the railway station. The prisoner who witnessed the sight said they took an hour to pass by.

The children who arrived at Auschwitz in those baby carriages, together with their mothers, fathers, brothers, sisters, uncles and aunts – all of those who died there – are the ones we should always remember, and this book is dedicated to their memory.

Laurence Rees, London, July 2004
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SURPRISING BEGINNINGS

ON 30 APRIL 1940 SS Hauptsturmführer (Captain) Rudolf Hoess achieved a great ambition. At the age of 39, and after six years’ service in the SS, he had been appointed commandant of one of the first Nazi concentration camps in the New Reich. On this spring day he arrived to take up his duties in a small town in what had been until eight months previously southwest Poland and was now part of German Upper Silesia. The name of the town in Polish was Oświęcim – in German, Auschwitz.

Although Hoess had been promoted to commandant, the camp he was to command did not yet exist. He had to supervise its construction from a collection of dilapidated and vermin-infested former Polish army barracks, grouped around a horse-breaking yard on the edge of the town. And the surrounding area could scarcely have been more depressing. This land between the Soła and Vistula rivers was flat and drab, the climate damp and unhealthy.

No one on that first day, and that certainly included Rudolf Hoess, could have predicted the camp would, within five years, become the site of the largest mass murder the world has yet seen. The story of the decision-making process that led to this transformation is one of the most shocking in the whole of history and one that offers great insights into the functioning of the Nazi state.

Adolf Hitler, Heinrich Himmler, Reinhard Heydrich, Hermann Goering – all these leading Nazis and more took decisions that led to the extermination of more than a million people at Auschwitz. But a crucial precondition for the crime was also the mentality of more minor functionaries such as Hoess. Without Hoess’s leadership through the hitherto uncharted territory of mass murder on this scale, Auschwitz would never have functioned as it did.

To look at, there was little exceptional about Rudolf Hoess. He was of medium height, with regular features and dark hair. He was neither ugly nor strikingly handsome; he simply resembled – in the words of American lawyer Whitney Harris,1 who interrogated Hoess at Nuremberg – ‘a normal person, like a grocery clerk’. Several Polish inmates of Auschwitz confirm this impression, remembering Hoess as quiet and controlled, the kind of person you walk past every day in the street and fail to notice. In appearance, Hoess was thus as far away as it is possible to get from the conventional image of the red-faced, saliva-spitting SS monster, which, of course, makes him all the more terrifying a figure.

As Hoess carried his suitcase into the hotel opposite Auschwitz railway station that would be the SS officers’ base until suitable accommodation had been arranged within the camp, he also brought with him the mental baggage of an adult life devoted to the nationalist cause. Like most ardent Nazis, his character and beliefs had been shaped by his reaction to the previous 25 years of German history – the most turbulent the country had ever experienced. Born in the Black Forest in 1900 to Catholic parents, Hoess was affected in his early years by a series of important influences: a domineering father who insisted on obedience; his service in World War I, where he was one of the youngest non-commissioned officers in the German army; his desperate sense of betrayal at the subsequent loss of the war; his service in the paramilitary Freikorps in the early 1920s in an attempt to counter the perceived Communist threat on the boundaries of Germany; and an involvement in violent right-wing politics that led to his imprisonment in 1923.

Many, many other Nazis were forged in a similar crucible. Not least among them was Adolf Hitler. Son of a domineering father,2 nursing his violent hatred of those whom he felt had lost Germany the war in which he had just fought (and during which, like Hoess, he had been awarded an Iron Cross), Hitler tried to seize power in a violent Putsch in exactly the same year as Hoess was elsewhere involved in a politically inspired murder.

For Hitler, Hoess and others on the nationalist right, the most urgent need was to understand why Germany had lost the war and made such a humiliating peace. And in the immediate post-war years they believed they had found the answer. Was it not obvious, they felt, that the Jews had been responsible? They pointed out that Walther Rathenau, who was Jewish, had become Foreign Minister in the new post-war Weimar government. And in 1919 they believed the link between Judaism and the feared creed of Communism had been proved beyond doubt when in Munich a Soviet-style Räterepublik (Councils’ Republic) was established briefly in the spring; the majority of the leaders of this Communist-led government had been Jewish.

It did not matter that large numbers of loyal German Jews had fought with bravery (and many had died) during the war. Nor that thousands of German Jews were neither left wing nor Communist. It was much easier for Hitler and his followers to find a scapegoat for Germany’s predicament in the German Jews. In the process, the newly formed Nazi party built on years of German anti-Semitism. And from the first its adherents claimed that their hatred of the Jews was motivated not by ignorant prejudice but by scientific fact: ‘We fight their [the Jews’] actions as they cause a RACIAL TUBERCULOSIS OF NATIONS,’ declares one of the earliest Nazi posters, published in 1920. ‘And we are convinced that convalescence can only begin when this bacteria has been removed.’3 This kind of pseudo-intellectual attack on the Jews had a huge effect on men like Hoess, who professed to despise the primitive, violent, almost pornographic anti-Semitism propagated by another Nazi, Julius Streicher, in his magazine Der Stürmer. ‘The cause of anti-Semitism is ill-served by the frenzied persecution that was provided by Der Stürmer,’4 wrote Hoess in prison after the defeat of Nazism. His approach was always colder, more ‘rational’, as he saw it. He claimed to have little quarrel with individual Jews; the problem for him was the ‘International world Jewish conspiracy’, by which he imagined that Jews secretly held the levers of power and sought to help each other across national boundaries. This was what he believed had led to Germany’s defeat in World War I. This was what he felt had to be destroyed: ‘As a fanatical National Socialist I was completely convinced that our ideal would gradually be accepted and would prevail all over the world … Jewish supremacy would therefore be destroyed.’5

After his release from prison in 1928 Hoess pursued another of the treasured right-wing nationalist beliefs which, like anti-Semitism, helped define the Nazi movement: love of the land. Whilst the Jews were hated because for the most part they lived in cities (despised, as Goebbels put it, for their ‘asphalt culture’), ‘true’ Germans never lost their love of nature. It was no accident that Himmler himself had studied agriculture, nor that Auschwitz was eventually to have one incarnation as an agricultural research station.

Hoess joined the Artamans, one of the agricultural communities that flourished in Germany at the time, met the woman who became his wife, and settled down to become a farmer. Then came the moment that changed his life. In June 1934 Himmler, Hitler’s chief of police, invited him to give up farming and become a full-time member of the SS, the elite Shutzstaffel that had originally been founded as the Führer’s personal bodyguard and, among other duties, was now running the concentration camps.6 Himmler had known Hoess for some time and liked what he saw. Hoess was an early member of the Nazi party, having joined in November 1922, and held party number 3240.

Hoess had a choice. He was not forced to volunteer – no one was conscripted into the SS. Yet he chose to join. In his autobiography he gives this reason for his decision: ‘Because of the likely prospect of swift promotion and the salary that accompanied it, I was convinced that I had to take this step.’7 This was only half the truth. Not surprisingly, writing after Nazism had been defeated, Hoess omits what must have been for him the most important deciding factor: his emotional state at the time. In 1934 Hoess would have felt he was witnessing the beginning of a new and wonderful world. Hitler had been in power for a year and already the Nazis’ internal enemies – the left-wing politicians, the ‘work-shy’, the anti-socials, the Jews – were being confronted. All over the country Germans not in these specific risk-groups welcomed what they saw. Typical was the reaction of Manfred von Schroeder, a banker’s son from Hamburg who joined the Nazi party in 1933: ‘Everything was in order again, and clean. There was a feeling of national liberation, a new start … People said, “Well, this is a revolution; it is an astonishing, peaceful revolution, but it is a revolution.”’8 Hoess now had a chance to be a player in this revolution; a revolution that he had prayed for since the end of World War I. Joining the SS meant status, privilege, excitement and a chance to influence the course of the new Germany. Staying a farmer meant, well, staying a farmer. Is it surprising that Hoess made the choice he did? So he accepted Himmler’s invitation and in November 1934 arrived at Dachau in Bavaria to start his service as a concentration camp guard.

In the popular consciousness today, certainly in Britain and America, there exists confusion about the function of the various camps in the Nazi state. Concentration camps like Dachau (which was established in March 1933, less than two months after Adolf Hitler became German Chancellor) were conceptually different from death camps like Treblinka, which were not in existence until the middle of the war. Adding further to the confusion in many people’s minds is the complex history of Auschwitz, the most infamous camp of all, which was to evolve into both a concentration camp and a death camp. Grasping the importance of the distinction between the two is essential in order to understand how Germans at the time rationalized the existence of places like Dachau during the 1930s. None of the Germans I have filmed – even those who were formerly fanatical Nazis – professed themselves ‘enthusiastic’ about the existence of the death camps, but many were more than content during the 1930s with the reality of the concentration camps. They had just lived through the nightmare of the Depression and had witnessed how, as they saw it, democracy had failed to prevent the country entering a spiral of decline. The spectre of Communism still existed. In elections held in the early 1930s Germany seemed to be splitting towards the extremes, with large numbers voting for the Communist party. And to a man like Manfred von Schroeder, who hailed the Nazis’ ‘peaceful revolution’ in 1933, there were clear historical parallels that explained the necessity for the existence of the concentration camps: ‘To be a French nobleman in the Bastille was not so agreeable, was it? … There were the concentration camps, but everyone said at that time, “Oh, the English invented them in South Africa with the Boers.”’

The first prisoners who entered Dachau in March 1933 were mostly political opponents of the Nazis. Jews were taunted, humiliated and beaten up in those early days, but it was the left-wing politicians9 of the former regime who were seen as the more immediate threat. And Hoess, when he arrived at Dachau, believed absolutely that these ‘true opponents of the state must be securely locked up’.10 The next three and a half years at Dachau were to play a defining role in shaping his character. For the carefully conceived regime at Dachau, inspired by Theodor Eicke, the first commandant of the camp, was not just brutal; it was designed to break the will of the inmate. Eicke channelled the violence and hatred the Nazis felt towards their enemies into systems and order. Dachau is infamous for the physical sadism practised there: whippings and other beatings were commonplace. Prisoners could be murdered and their death dismissed as ‘killed whilst attempting an escape’, and a significant minority of those sent to Dachau did die there. But the real power of the regime at Dachau lay less in physical abuse – terrible as it undoubtedly was – and more in mental torture.

The first innovation at Dachau was that, unlike in a normal prison, the inmate had no clue as to how long his sentence was likely to be. Whilst during the 1930s most prisoners in Dachau were released after a stay of about a year, any individual sentence could be shorter or longer depending on the whim of the authorities. There was no end date for the prisoner to focus upon, only the permanent uncertainty of never knowing if freedom would come tomorrow, or next month, or next year. Hoess, who had endured years of imprisonment himself, knew at once the terrible power of this policy: ‘The uncertainty of the duration of their imprisonment was something with which they could never come to terms,’ he wrote. ‘It was this that wore them down and broke even the most steadfast will … Because of this alone their life in camp was a torment.’11

Added to this uncertainty was the way in which the guards could play with the minds of the prisoners. Josef Felder, an SPD (socialist) member of the Reichstag who was one of the earliest inmates of Dachau, remembers – when he was at his lowest point emotionally – how his jailer took a rope and demonstrated the best way to tie a noose so that he could hang himself.12 Only by exercising enormous self-control and remembering ‘I have a family’ was he able to resist the suggestion. Inmates were required to keep their barracks and clothes in meticulous order. Regular inspections allowed the SS guards to find fault continually and, if they wished, punish the whole block for imaginary infractions. Everyone in a block could be ‘locked down’ and ordered to lie silent and motionless in their bunks for days.

At Dachau a system of ‘Kapos’ was also introduced – something that would be adopted across the whole concentration camp network and subsequently play an important part in the running of Auschwitz. (The term ‘Kapo’ appears to have derived from the Italian capo, meaning ‘head’.) The authorities at the camp would appoint one prisoner to be ‘Kapo’ in each block or work ‘commando’, and this inmate would have enormous power over his fellow prisoners. Not surprisingly, that power was often abused. Almost more than the SS guards, the Kapos, in moment-to-moment contact with the other prisoners, could use arbitrary behaviour to make life inside the camp intolerable. But the Kapos too were at risk if they failed to please their SS masters. As Himmler put it: ‘His [the Kapo’s] job is to see that the work gets done … thus he has to push his men. As soon as we are no longer satisfied with him, he is no longer a Kapo and returns to the other inmates. He knows that they will beat him to death his first night back.’13

From the Nazis’ point of view camp life was a microcosm of the outside world. ‘The idea of struggle is as old as life itself,’ Hitler said in a speech as early as 1928. ‘In this struggle the stronger, the more able, win, while the less able, the weak, lose. Struggle is the father of all things … It is not by the principles of humanity that man lives or is able to preserve himself above the animal world, but solely by means of the most brutal struggle.’14 This quasi-Darwinian attitude, at the very core of Nazism, was evident throughout the administration of the concentration camps. The Kapos, for example, could ‘justly’ mistreat those in their charge since they had proved themselves superior in life’s ‘struggle’.

Above all else, Hoess learnt the essential philosophy of the SS while in Dachau. Theodor Eicke had preached one doctrine from the first – hardness: ‘Anyone who shows even the slightest vestige of sympathy towards them [prisoners] must immediately vanish from our ranks. I need only hard, totally committed SS men. There is no place amongst us for soft people.’15 Thus any form of sympathy, any form of compassion was a demonstration of weakness. If an SS man felt these emotions come to him, it was a sign that the enemy had succeeded in deceiving him. Nazi propaganda preached that it was often in the most unlikely places that an enemy might lurk; one of the most widespread pieces of anti-Semitic propaganda aimed at children was a book called The Poisoned Mushroom, which warned of the insidious danger of the Jews by using the metaphor of a mushroom that seems attractive on the surface but is in reality poisonous. In just such a way the SS were conditioned to despise their own feelings of concern when, for example, they witnessed the beating of an inmate. They were taught that any lingering feeling of compassion was caused by the trickery of the victim. As ‘enemies of the state’ these cunning creatures were said to use any method – not least an appeal to the pity of those who held them captive – in an attempt to pursue their malicious goal. The memory of the ‘stab in the back’, the myth that Jews and Communists had plotted behind the lines to lose Germany World War I, was never far away and fitted perfectly into this vision of a dangerous but concealed enemy.

The only certainty for members of the SS was the fundamental rightness of the orders they were given. If a superior ordered someone to be imprisoned, someone to be executed, then – even if to the individual ordered to carry out the sentence the judgment appeared incomprehensible – the order must be correct. The only protection against the cancer of self-doubt in the face of orders that were not immediately explicable was hardness, which therefore became a cult throughout the SS. ‘We must be hard as granite, otherwise the work of our Führer will perish,’16 said Reinhard Heydrich, the most powerful figure in the SS after Himmler.

In the process of learning how to bury emotions like compassion and pity, Hoess absorbed the sense of brotherhood that was also strong in the SS. Precisely because an SS man knew that he would be called upon to do things that ‘weaker’ men could not, a powerful esprit de corps developed in which the loyalty of one’s SS comrades became a vital pillar of support. The crude values of the SS – unquestioning loyalty, hardness, protection of the Reich against the enemy within – became almost a substitute religious creed, a distinct and easily absorbed world-view. ‘I was full of gratitude to the SS for the intellectual guidance it gave me,’ said Johannes Hassebroeck, commandant of another SS concentration camp. ‘We were all thankful. Many of us had been so bewildered before we joined the organization. We did not understand what was happening around us – everything was so mixed up. The SS offered us a series of simple ideas that we could understand, and we believed in them.’ 17

Hoess also learnt at Dachau another significant lesson that would have consequences for Auschwitz. He observed how prisoners were better able to endure their imprisonment because the SS enabled them to work. He remembered his own imprisonment in Leipzig, and how it was only by being allowed to work (he had glued paper bags together) that he had been able to face each day in a more or less positive frame of mind. Now he saw how work played a similar role at Dachau, allowing the prisoners to ‘discipline themselves and so enable them to withstand better the demoralizing effect of their imprisonment’.18 So convinced was Hoess of the palliative effect of work in the concentration camp that he even imported the slogan that had first been used at Dachau – Arbeit macht frei (Work brings freedom) – and emblazoned it across the iron gate at the entrance to Auschwitz.

Hoess was a model member of the SS and rose through the ranks at Dachau until in April 1936 he was made Rapportführer, chief assistant to the commandant of the camp. Then, in September 1936, he was promoted to lieutenant and transferred to Sachsenhausen concentration camp, where he remained until his elevation to commandant of the new concentration camp at Auschwitz. This, then, was the man who arrived in southwest Poland in the spring of 1940 – a product of his genetic inheritance, of course, but also someone hugely moulded by the history of the times, with six years’ service behind him as a camp guard. He now felt ready to take on his biggest challenge: creating a model concentration camp in the new Nazi empire. In his mind he knew what was expected of him, knew the purpose of the place he was about to construct. His experience at Dachau and Sachsenhausen offered a clear example for him to follow. But his superiors had other plans, and over the next months and years the camp Hoess built at Auschwitz was to develop along a very different path indeed.

At the same time as Hoess was beginning work at Auschwitz, 250 miles to the northwest his boss was doing something extremely unusual – composing a memorandum for the Führer. Heinrich Himmler sat in Berlin and wrote the diffidently entitled ‘Some Thoughts on the Treatment of the Alien Population of the East’. Himmler, one of the most astute power brokers in the Nazi state, knew that it was often unwise to commit thoughts to paper. At the highest level, Nazi policy was frequently formulated verbally. Once his views were on paper Himmler realized that they could be dissected by his rivals and, like any leading Nazi, he had many enemies who were always seeking to seize some of his power for themselves. But the situation in Poland, which the Germans had occupied since the autumn of 1939, was such that he felt he had to make an exception and prepare a written document for Hitler. The document he wrote is one of the most significant in the history of Nazi racial policy, not least because the words Himmler committed to paper were to clarify the context within which the new camp at Auschwitz was to function.

At that moment, in his capacity as Reich Commissar for the Strengthening of German Nationhood, Himmler was involved in the largest and swiftest ethnic reorganization of a country ever contemplated, and the whole process was going badly wrong. Far from bringing order to Poland, a country whose supposed inefficiency the Nazis held in contempt, Himmler and his colleagues had brought only violence and chaos.

There was no dispute amongst the Nazis about their basic attitude to the Poles. It was one of loathing. The question was what to do about it. One of the most important ‘problems’ the Nazis felt they had to solve related to the Jews of Poland. Unlike in Germany, where Jews represented much less than 1 per cent of the population (around 300,000 in 1940) and where most were assimilated into society, in Poland there were 3 million Jews, the majority of whom lived in their own communities and were often readily identifiable by their beards and other marks of their faith. After Poland was divided up between Germany and the Soviet Union in the immediate aftermath of the outbreak of war (under the terms of the secret part of the Nazi–Soviet non-aggression pact of August 1939), over 2 million Polish Jews were left in the Nazi-occupied zone of the country. What should be their fate?

Another, self-created, problem for the Nazis was finding homes for the hundreds of thousands of ethnic Germans who were currently being shipped to Poland. Under an agreement between Germany and the Soviet Union, ethnic Germans from the Baltic states, Bessarabia (northern Romania), and other regions now occupied by Stalin were permitted to emigrate to Germany – to ‘come home to the Reich’ as the slogan went. Obsessed as they were by notions of the racial purity of ‘German blood’, it was an act of faith for men like Himmler to be able to accommodate all Germans who wanted to return home to their native land. The difficulty was, where should they actually go? Added to this was a third and final issue that the Nazis had to resolve. How should the 18 million Poles now under German control who were not Jewish be treated? How should the country be organized so that they never posed a threat?

Hitler had made a speech in October 1939 which offered some guidelines to those wrestling with these questions of policy. He made it clear that ‘the main task is to create a new ethnographic order; i.e. to resettle the nationalities so that in the end better lines of demarcation exist than today’.19 In practice this meant that German-occupied Poland was to be divided: part of it would be a place where the majority of Poles would live, and part would be incorporated into Germany. The incoming ethnic Germans would then be settled not in the ‘Old Reich’ but in this ‘New Reich’; they would indeed be ‘coming home to the Reich’ – just not to the Reich they were expecting.

This left the question of the Polish Jews. Until the start of the war Nazi policy towards Jews living under their control had been one of growing official persecution through countless restrictive regulations, interspersed with moments of unofficial (though sanctioned) violent outrage. Hitler’s views about the Jews had changed little since the mid-1920s, when in his book Mein Kampf he expressed the opinion that it would have been to Germany’s advantage during World War I to use ‘poison gas’ on ‘10 to 12,000 of these Hebrew destroyers of the nation’. But whilst Hitler clearly hated the Jews and had demonstrably done so since the end of World War I, and may indeed have privately expressed the desire to see them all die, no Nazi blueprint planning their extermination was yet in existence.

Lucille Eichengreen20 grew up in a Jewish family in Hamburg during the 1930s and remembers all too well the circumstances under which German Jews were forced to live. ‘Until 1933 it was a very nice comfortable life,’ she says. ‘But once Hitler came to power, the children that lived in the same building no longer spoke to us; they threw stones at us and called us names. And we couldn’t understand what we had done to deserve this. So the question was always – why? And when we asked at home the answer was pretty much, “It’s a passing phase. It’ll normalize.”’ In the mid-1930s the Eichengreens were informed that Jews were no longer permitted to live in their current building. Instead, they were assigned to places called ‘Jewish houses’ owned partly by Jewish landlords. Their first new apartment was nearly as large as their previous one, but over succeeding years they were forced to move into smaller and smaller accommodation until they finished up in a single furnished room for the entire family. ‘I think we more or less accepted it,’ says Lucille. ‘This was the law, those were the rules, and you could do nothing about it.’

The illusion that Nazi anti-Semitic policy would one day ‘normalize’ was destroyed by Kristallnacht, which occurred on the night of 9 November 1938. Nazi stormtroopers destroyed Jewish property and rounded up thousands of German Jews in a revenge action motivated by the news that a Jewish student called Herschel Grynszpan had murdered Ernst vom Rath, a German diplomat, in Paris. ‘Walking to school we saw the synagogues burning,’ says Lucille Eichengreen, ‘the glass of Jewish shops broken, merchandise in the streets, and the Germans laughing … We were so afraid. We thought they would grab us and do I don’t know what.’

By the outbreak of war in 1939 Jews could no longer hold German citizenship, marry non-Jews, own businesses or work in certain professions; they could not even hold driving licences. Discrimination by regulation, coupled with the violent outburst of Kristallnacht in which more than 1000 synagogues were destroyed, 400 Jews killed and around 30,000 male Jews imprisoned for months in concentration camps, caused a large number of German Jews to emigrate. By 1939 around 450,000 of them had left the area of the new ‘Greater German Reich’ (Germany, Austria and the ethnic German Czech lands) – this amounted to more than half the Jews who lived there. The Nazis were pleased; especially since, following the pioneering work of SS Jewish ‘expert’ Adolf Eichmann in 1938 after the Anschluss (annexation) with Austria, a system had been devised whereby the Jews were robbed of most of their money before they were allowed to leave the country.

But it was initially hard for the Nazis to see how the solution they had evolved to their self-created ‘problem’ of the German Jews was transferable to Poland. Not only were there now millions of Jews under their control rather than a few hundred thousand, but most were poor, and in the midst of a war where could they be forcibly encouraged to emigrate to? Then, in the autumn of 1939, Adolf Eichmann thought he had the answer: the Jews should be made to emigrate not to another country, but to the least hospitable part of the Nazis’ own empire. Moreover, he thought he had found the ideal place – the Lublin district of Poland, around the town of Nisko. This remote area at the far eastern extreme of Nazi territory seemed to him the perfect location for a ‘Jewish reservation’. German-occupied Poland would thus be divided into three: a German-settled part, a Polish part and a Jewish part, all set on a neat geographical axis moving from west to east. Eichmann’s ambitious plan was agreed, and thousands of Jews from Austria began to be shipped to the area. Conditions were appalling. Little or no preparation was made for their arrival and many died. This was a matter of no concern to the Nazis. Indeed it was something to be encouraged. As Hans Frank, one of the most senior Nazis at work in Poland, put it to his staff in November 1939: ‘Don’t waste any time on the Jews. It is a joy finally to be able to deal with the Jewish race. The more that die the better.’21

However, as Himmler sat composing his memorandum in May 1940 he knew only too well that the internal emigration of Jews to the far east of Poland had been a dismal failure. To a large extent this was because the Nazis were attempting three separate emigrations simultaneously. The incoming ethnic Germans had to be transported to Poland and found somewhere to live. This meant Poles had to be thrown out of their houses and transported elsewhere. At the same time Jews were being transported east into property from which Poles also had to be evicted. It was scarcely a wonder that this all led to chaos and confusion on an epic scale.

By the spring of 1940 Eichmann’s Nisko plan had been abandoned and Poland had finally been divided into just two separate categories of territory. There were the districts that had officially become ‘German’ and were part of the ‘New Reich’: West Prussia, around Danzig (Gdańsk); the Warthegau, in the west of Poland around Posen (Poznań) and Łódź; and Upper Silesia, around Katowice (the area that included Auschwitz). And then there was the biggest single area of all, called the General Government, encompassing the cities of Warsaw, Kraków and Lublin, which had been designated as living space for the majority of the Poles.

The most pressing problem Himmler faced was providing suitable housing for the hundreds of thousands of incoming ethnic Germans – a difficulty that would in turn impact on the way he thought both Poles and Jews should be dealt with. The case of Irma Eigi22 and her family illustrates just how ruthlessly the Nazis attempted to solve the seemingly intractable predicament they had manoeuvred themselves into, and also how the population problems fed upon themselves, spiralling away towards crisis. In December 1939 Irma Eigi, a 17-year-old ethnic German from Estonia, found herself, together with the rest of her family, in temporary accommodation in Posen, in what had been Poland and was now the part of Germany known as the Warthegau. They had thought, when they accepted the offer of safe passage ‘to the Reich’, that they were going to be sent to Germany: ‘When we were told we were going to the Warthegau, well, it was quite a shock, I can tell you.’ Just before Christmas 1939 a Nazi housing official gave her father keys to a flat that had until hours before belonged to a Polish family. Days later a restaurant was commandeered from its Polish owner so that the newcomers could also have a business to run. The Eigis were appalled: ‘We had no inkling of that before it happened … You can’t live with this guilt. But on the other hand, every person has an instinct for self-preservation. What else could we have done? Where were we supposed to go?’

This individual case of expropriation must be multiplied by a factor of more than 100,000 to give an impression of just what was taking place in Poland during this period. The scale of the relocation operation was enormous – within a year and a half around half a million ethnic Germans arrived to be resettled in the new part of the Reich, and hundreds of thousands of Poles were dispossessed in order to make room for them. Many were simply shoved on cattle trucks and taken south to the General Government, where they were dumped without food or shelter. It is not surprising that Goebbels remarked in his diary in January 1940, ‘Himmler is presently shifting populations. Not always successfully.’23

All of this still left the question of the Polish Jews. Having discovered that simultaneously attempting to relocate the Jews, the Poles and the ethnic Germans was simply impractical, Himmler embraced another solution; if space was needed for the ethnic Germans – and it clearly was – then the Jews should be forced to live with a good deal less of it. Ghettos were the answer.

Ghettos, which were to become such a striking feature of the Nazi persecution of the Jews in Poland, were never intended to have the life they did. Like so much in the history of Auschwitz and the Nazis’ ‘Final Solution’, they evolved in ways that had not initially been planned. As early as November 1938, when discussing how to deal with the housing issues raised by the eviction of German Jews from their homes, Reinhard Heydrich of the SS had said: ‘As for the question of ghettos, I would like to make my position clear right away. From the point of view of the police, I don’t think a ghetto, in the form of a completely segregated district where only Jews would live, can be put up. We could not control a ghetto where Jews congregate amid the whole Jewish people. It would remain a hideout for criminals and also for epidemics and the like.’24

Nonetheless, now that other avenues seemed, albeit perhaps temporarily, closed to them, the Nazis sought to ghettoize Polish Jews. This was not just a practical measure designed to release more housing (even though Hitler remarked in March 1940 that ‘the solution of the Jewish question is a question of space’25); it was also motivated by the visceral hatred and fear of Jews that had been at the core of Nazism from the beginning. Ideally, the Nazis believed, the Jews should just be made to ‘go away’, but if that was not immediately practicable, then, since they – especially Eastern Jews – were believed to be carriers of disease, they should be kept separate from everyone else. The Nazis’ intense, physical loathing of Polish Jews was something Estera Frenkiel,26 a teenage Jewish girl living in Łódź, felt from the first: ‘We were used to anti-Semitism … Polish anti-Semitism was perhaps more financial. But Nazi anti-Semitism was: “Why do you exist? You shouldn’t be! You ought to disappear!”’

In February 1940, as deportations of Poles to the General Government proceeded apace, it was announced that the Jews of Łódź were to be ‘relocated’ to a ghetto area within the city. From the first it was intended that such ghettos should be only a temporary measure, a place in which to incarcerate the Jews before they were deported somewhere else. In April 1940 the Łódź ghetto was sealed and Jews could no longer leave the area without permission from the German authorities. That same month the Reich Security Main Office announced that deportations of Jews to the General Government were to be curtailed. Hans Frank, Hitler’s former lawyer who ran the General Government, had been campaigning for months to halt all ‘unauthorized’ forced emigrations because the situation had become untenable. As Dr Fritz Arlt,27 head of the Department for Population Affairs in the General Government, later put it: ‘The people were thrown out of the trains, whether in the marketplace or on the train station or wherever it was, and nobody cared about it … We received a phone call from the district officer and he said, “I don’t know what to do any more. So and so many hundreds have arrived again. I have neither shelter nor food nor anything.”’ Frank – no friend of Himmler’s – complained to Hermann Goering (who took a keen interest in Poland in his capacity as head of the Economic Four Year Plan) about the deportation policy and the use of the General Government as a ‘racial dustbin’, and an uneasy truce was arranged, whereby Himmler and Frank would ‘agree upon the procedures of future evacuation’.

It was this mess that Himmler tried to address in his memorandum of May 1940. In response he sought to reinforce the division of Poland into German and non-German areas and to define how the Poles and Jews were to be treated. Himmler, in this statement of racial faith, wrote that he wanted the Poles to be turned into a nation of ill-educated slaves and that the General Government should be home to a ‘leaderless labouring class’.28 ‘The non-German population of the Eastern territories must not receive any education higher than that of an elementary school,’ wrote Himmler. ‘The objective of this elementary school must simply be to teach: simple arithmetic up to 500 at the most, how to write one’s name, and to teach that it is God’s commandment to be obedient to Germans and to be honest, hard-working and well-behaved. I consider it unnecessary to teach reading.’

Alongside this policy of turning Poland into a nation of illiterates was a proactive attempt to ‘sift out those with valuable blood and those with worthless blood’. Polish children between the ages of six and ten would be examined, and those who were thought racially acceptable would be snatched from their families and raised in Germany; they would not see their biological parents again. The Nazi policy of stealing children in Poland is a good deal less well known than the extermination of the Jews. But it fits into the same pattern. It demonstrates how seriously a man like Himmler believed in identifying the value of a human being through racial composition. Removing these children was not for him, as it might seem today, some evil eccentricity, but an essential part of his warped world-view. For, from his standpoint, if such children were allowed to remain, then the Poles ‘might acquire a leader class from such people of good blood’.

Significantly, Himmler wrote of these children: ‘However cruel and tragic each individual case may be, if one rejects the Bolshevik method of physically exterminating a people as fundamentally un-German and impossible, then this method is the mildest and best one.’ Though Himmler writes this in the immediate context of the Polish children, it is clear, since he refers to ‘physically exterminating a people’ as being ‘fundamentally un-German’, that he must also extend this admonition to other ‘peoples’ – including the Jews. (Further confirmation of this interpretation is provided by Heydrich’s statement in the summer of 1940, directly in the context of the Jews, that: ‘Biological extermination is undignified for the German people as a civilized nation.’)29

In his wide-ranging memorandum Himmler also announced what he wanted the fate of the Jews to be: ‘I hope to see the term “Jews” completely eliminated through the possibility of a large-scale emigration of all Jews to Africa or to some other colony.’ This return to the previously established policy of emigration was available now because of the wider context of the war. Himmler was counting both on the imminent defeat of France and the consequent swift capitulation of the British, who would then want to sue for a separate peace. With the war over, the Polish Jews could be packed on to ships and removed, possibly to one of the former African colonies of the French.

Far-fetched as the idea of shipping millions of people to Africa seems today, there is no doubt that at the time it was taken seriously by the Nazis. Radical anti-Semites had been suggesting the removal of the Jews to Africa for years, and now the course of the war seemed about to make this solution to the Nazis’ Jewish ‘problem’ possible. Six weeks after Himmler’s memo, Franz Rademacher in the German Foreign Office wrote a document that announced the proposed African destination of the Jews – the island of Madagascar.30 However, it is important to remember that this plan, like all the other wartime solutions to the ‘Jewish problem’, would have meant widespread death and suffering for the Jews. A Nazi governor of Madagascar would most likely have presided over the gradual elimination of the Jews within a generation or two. The Nazis’ ‘Final Solution’ as we know it would not have occurred, but almost certainly there would still have been another kind of genocide.

Himmler passed his memorandum to Hitler, who read it and told him that in his view it was ‘gut und richtig’ (‘good and correct’). Significantly, Hitler never wrote down his views on the memo. It was sufficient for Himmler to be armed with the Führer’s verbal approval for its contents. In such a way was high policy decided in the Nazi state.

Rudolf Hoess and his embryo concentration camp at Auschwitz were but a small part of this overall picture. Auschwitz was situated in one of the parts of Poland that was to be ‘Germanized’, and so the immediate future of the camp would be decided to a large extent by its location. The Upper Silesia region had passed between the Poles and the Germans a number of times before, and immediately preceding World War I it had been part of Germany, only to be lost in the Versailles settlement. Now the Nazis wanted to reclaim it for the Reich. But, unlike the other areas to be ‘Germanized’, Upper Silesia was heavily industrialized, and large parts of it were unsuitable for settlement by the incoming ethnic Germans. This meant that many of the Poles would have to remain as a slave workforce, which in turn meant that a concentration camp was thought particularly necessary in the area in order to subdue the local population. Originally Auschwitz had been conceived as a holding concentration camp – a ‘quarantine’ camp in Nazi jargon – in which to keep prisoners before they were sent on to other concentration camps in the Reich, but within days it became clear that the camp would function as a place of permanent imprisonment in its own right.

Hoess knew that the war had radicalized everything, including the concentration camps. Although modelled on a place like Dachau, this new camp would have to deal with a more intractable problem than the institutions in the ‘Old Reich’. The camp at Auschwitz needed to imprison and terrorize Poles at a time when the whole country was being ethnically reordered and Poland as a nation intellectually and politically destroyed. Thus, even in its first incarnation as a concentration camp, Auschwitz had a proportionately higher death rate than any ‘normal’ camp in the Reich. Of the 20,000 Poles initially sent to the camp, more than half were dead by the start of 1942.

The first prisoners to arrive at Auschwitz in June 1940 were not Poles but Germans – 30 criminals transferred from Sachsenhausen concentration camp. They would become the first Kapos, the inmates who would act as agents of control between the SS and the Polish prisoners. The sight of these Kapos was the strongest first impression made on many of the Poles who arrived in the initial transports to the camp. ‘We thought that they were all sailors,’ says Roman Trojanowski,31 who arrived at Auschwitz as a 19-year-old in the summer of 1940. ‘They had berets like mariners. And then it turned out they were criminals. All of them were criminals.’ ‘We arrived and there were German Kapos and they yelled at us and struck us with short batons,’ says Wilhelm Brasse,32 who arrived at about the same time. ‘When someone was slow in coming down from the cattle truck he was beaten, or in several instances they were killed on the spot. So I was terrified. Everyone was terrified.’

These earliest Polish prisoners at Auschwitz had been sent to the camp for a variety of reasons: they might be suspected of working in the Polish underground, or be members of a group the Nazis specially targeted, such as priests or the intelligentsia, or simply be someone to whom a German had taken exception. Indeed, many of the first group of Polish prisoners, who arrived at the camp on 14 June 1940, transferred from Tarnów prison, were university students.

The immediate task for these new arrivals was simple – they had to build the camp themselves. ‘We used very primitive tools,’ recalls Wilhelm Brasse. ‘The prisoners had to carry stones. It was very difficult, hard labour. And we were beaten.’ But not enough construction materials had been provided to complete the task, so a typical Nazi solution was found – theft. ‘I worked at demolishing houses that used to belong to Polish families,’ Brasse continues. ‘There was an order to take building materials such as bricks, planks and all kinds of other wood. We were surprised the Germans wanted to build so rapidly and they did not have the material.’

The camp quickly developed a culture of theft not just from the local population, but from within the institution itself. ‘The German Kapos would send us inmates off and say, “Go and steal cement from another work commando. We don’t care about the other guys,”’ says Brasse. ‘And that is what we did. Planks or cement would be stolen from another commando. In the camp lingo that was called “organizing”. But we had to be very careful not to be caught.’ Nor was this culture of ‘organizing’ confined to the inmates. In those early days Hoess too stole what he needed: ‘Since I could expect no help from the Inspectorate of Concentration Camps, I had to make do as best I could and help myself. I had to scrounge up cars and trucks and the necessary petrol. I had to drive as far as 100 kilometres to Zakopane and Rabka just to get some kettles for the prisoners’ kitchen, and I had to go all the way to the Sudetenland for bed frames and straw sacks … Whenever I found depots of material that was needed urgently I simply carted it away without worrying about the formalities … I didn’t even know where I could get a hundred metres of barbed wire. So I just had to pilfer the badly needed barbed wire.’33

While Hoess was ‘organizing’ what he considered necessary to make Auschwitz into a ‘useful’ camp, behind the newly pilfered barbed wire it soon became clear to the Poles that their chances of survival depended chiefly on one factor – which Kapo they worked for. ‘I very quickly understood that in the “good” work commandos the prisoners would usually have full, round faces,’ says Wilhelm Brasse. ‘They behaved differently from the ones who had the hard jobs and looked haggard, like skeletons wearing uniforms. And immediately I would notice that with this Kapo it’s better because the prisoners look better.’

Roman Trojanowski struggled under the command of one of the cruellest Kapos, who once punished him for a minor transgression by smashing him in the face and then making him squat for two hours holding a stool in front of him. The harshness of life in this work commando was breaking him. ‘I had no strength to run around with wheelbarrows every day,’ he says. ‘After one hour the wheelbarrow would fall out of your hands. You just fell on the wheelbarrow and you would hurt your leg. I had to save my skin.’ Like many inmates before and after him at Auschwitz, Roman Trojanowski knew he had to find a way out of his current work commando or perish.

One morning an announcement was made at roll-call – experienced carpenters were required. So Trojanowski volunteered, and even though he had never been a carpenter in his life he said that he had ‘seven years of practice’. But the plan backfired: it was obvious once he began work in the carpentry shop that he could not do the job. ‘The Kapo called me, took me to his room and stood there with a big stick. When I saw that stick I felt weak. And he said that for damaging material I’d get twenty-five hits. He told me to bend over and he hit me. He did it especially slow so that I would taste every blow. He was a big guy. He had a heavy hand and it was a heavy stick. I wanted to yell but I bit my lips and I managed not to shout, not even once. And it paid off, because on the fifteenth blow he stopped. “You’re behaving nicely,” he said, “and so I’ll pardon you the last ten.” Out of twenty-five blows I got only fifteen; but fifteen sufficed. My arse was in colours from black to violet to yellow for two weeks and I couldn’t sit down for a long time.’

Thrown out of the carpentry shop, Trojanowski still sought a job indoors. ‘That was decisive,’ he says. ‘To survive you had to be under a roof.’ He spoke to a friend who knew a relatively benign Kapo called Otto Küsel. Together with his friend he approached Küsel, exaggerated the amount of German he knew, and managed to get a job working in the kitchen preparing food for the Germans. ‘That’s how I saved my life,’ he says.

In this struggle for survival within the camp two groups of people were singled out from the moment of their arrival for particularly sadistic treatment: priests and Jews. Although at this stage of its evolution Auschwitz was not a place where large numbers of Jews were sent – the policy of ghettoization was still in full swing – some of the intelligentsia, members of the resistance and political prisoners who were sent to the camp were also Jews. They, together with Polish Catholic priests, were more likely than the other inmates to fall into the hands of the penal commando unit run by one of the most notorious Kapos of all, Ernst Krankemann.

Krankemann arrived at the camp in the second batch of German criminals, transferred from Sachsenhausen on 29 August 1940. Many in the SS disliked him, but he had two powerful SS supporters in Karl Fritzsch, the Lagerführer (camp leader, and Hoess’s deputy), and Gerhard Palitzsch, the Rapportführer (commandant’s chief assistant). Krankemann, who was enormously fat, would sit on top of the harness of a giant roller that was used for flattening the roll-call square in the centre of the camp. ‘First time I saw him,’ says Jerzy Bielecki,34 one of the earliest prisoners to arrive in Auschwitz, ‘they were rolling the square between the two blocks, and because it was a very heavy roller the twenty or twenty-five people in the unit were unable to pull it. Krankemann had a whip and would hit them. “Faster, you dogs!” he said.’

Bielecki saw these prisoners forced to work without a break all day levelling the square. As evening fell, one of them collapsed on his knees and could not get up. Then Krankemann ordered the rest of the penal commando to pull the giant roller over their prostrate comrade. ‘I had got used to seeing death and beatings,’ says Bielecki, ‘but what I saw then just made me cold. I just froze.’

Far from being indifferent spectators to this kind of brutality, the SS actively encouraged it. As Wilhelm Brasse and, indeed, all the Auschwitz survivors testify, it was the SS who created the culture of murderous brutality in the camp (and often committed murder themselves). ‘Those Kapos that were especially cruel,’ says Brasse, ‘were given prizes by the SS – an additional portion of soup or bread or cigarettes. I saw it myself. The SS would urge them on. I frequently heard an SS man say, “Beat him well.”’

Notwithstanding the appalling brutality prevalent in the camp, Auschwitz was, from the Nazi perspective, still something of a backwater in the maelstrom of the brutal reorganization of Poland. The first sign that all this was to change came in the autumn of 1940. In September, Oswald Pohl, head of the SS Main Administration and Economic Office, inspected the camp and told Hoess to increase its capacity. Pohl believed that the sand and gravel pits nearby meant that the camp could be integrated into the SS-owned German Earth and Stone Works (DESt). Economic considerations had been growing in importance for Himmler and the SS ever since 1937 when, with the concentration camp population in Germany down to 10,000 from over 20,000 in 1933, he had hit on an innovative solution to protect the future of the camps – the SS would go into business.

From the beginning, this was business of an unusual kind. Himmler did not want to form a capitalist enterprise, more a series of companies that would operate according to Nazi philosophical ideas in the service of the state. The concentration camps would provide the raw materials for the new Germany, such as the vast quantities of granite that were needed for Hitler’s gigantic new Reich Chancellery in Berlin. In pursuit of this goal, after the Anschluss with Austria in 1938, the SS opened a new concentration camp at Mauthausen specifically to be near a granite quarry. It was thought particularly apt that the opponents of the regime should contribute to its growth. As Albert Speer, Hitler’s favourite architect, put it: ‘After all, the Jews were already making bricks under the Pharaohs.’35

Himmler’s enthusiasm for industrial production did not stop at providing building materials for the Reich. He gave his blessing to a whole host of other projects as well. An experimental unit was established to look into natural medicines and new forms of agricultural production (two subjects close to Himmler’s heart), and soon the SS were also involved in the production of clothing, vitamin drinks and even porcelain (making figurines of goatherds and other racially suitable subjects). As recent research has shown,36 the SS managers of many of these enterprises were incompetent, almost comically so, were the subject not so bleak.

No sooner had Pohl demanded that Auschwitz produce sand and gravel for the Nazi state than the camp gained another function. In November 1940 Rudolf Hoess had a meeting with Himmler, and the plans for Auschwitz that Hoess produced during this encounter caught his boss’s imagination. Suddenly their shared interest in agriculture forged a bond between them. Hoess recalled Himmler’s new vision for the camp: ‘Every necessary agricultural experiment was to be attempted there. Massive laboratories and plant cultivation departments had to be built. Cattle breeding of all types was to become important … The marshlands were to be drained and developed … He continued with his talk of agricultural planning even down to the smallest details, and ceased only when his adjutant called his attention to the fact that a very important person had been waiting a long time to see him.’37

This meeting between Hoess and Himmler, long eclipsed by the even greater horror that was to develop at Auschwitz, gives an insight into the mentality of the two key figures in the history of the camp. It is too easy, and simply wrong, to dismiss them as ‘madmen’ motivated by irrational feelings that we can never understand. Here, at this meeting, we can see them as two enthusiasts, almost cranks, who, in the context of war, were able to pursue visions that in peacetime would only be pipe dreams. But as a result of Nazi aggression Himmler, as he sat there poring over the plans of Auschwitz with Hoess, was a man who had already had direct experience of turning his dreams into reality. He had swept his hand across a map and reordered the lives of hundreds of thousands of ethnic Germans and Poles. In the process, he had pronounced judgements in the most sweeping terms imaginable.

It is vital to remember that all the time Himmler was speaking in such grandiloquent terms of his desire for Auschwitz to become a centre of agricultural research, he was doing so in pursuit of a coherent vision – a repulsive vision, of course, but nonetheless a coherent one. At this November 1940 meeting he was enthused by the vision of Silesia as a German agricultural utopia, almost a paradise. Gone would be the tawdry Polish homesteads of the south; in their place would rise solid, well-managed German farms. Hoess and Himmler had been farmers themselves; both had an emotional, almost mystical, attachment to nurturing the land. So the idea that Auschwitz could be developed in a way that could further agricultural knowledge must have been hugely attractive for both of them.

In the pursuit of this sudden enthusiasm it was a matter of little consequence to Himmler that Auschwitz concentration camp was in precisely the wrong place for such an enterprise. Sited at the confluence of the Soła and Vistula rivers, the camp lay in an area notorious for flooding. Nevertheless, from now until the day the camp closed Auschwitz prisoners would labour in pursuit of Himmler’s vision, digging ditches, draining ponds, shoring up riverbanks – all because it was much more exciting for the Reichsführer SS to dream a dream than to discuss practicalities. Thousands would die in the process, a thought that would scarcely have flitted across Himmler’s mind as he enthusiastically outlined his fantasy in front of his faithful subordinate Rudolf Hoess.

By the end of 1940 Hoess had established many of the basic structures and principles under which the camp would function for the next four years: the Kapos who effectively controlled the prisoners from moment to moment, the absolute brutality of a regime that could inflict punishment arbitrarily, and a pervasive sense within the camp that if an intimate did not learn quickly how to manipulate himself out of a dangerous work commando then he risked a swift and sudden death. But there was one final creation in those early months that symbolized the culture of the camp even more appropriately – Block 11.

From the outside Block 11 (at first called Block 13, then renumbered in 1941) looked like any of the other red-brick, barrack-like buildings that ran in straight rows throughout the camp. But it served a unique purpose – and everyone in the camp knew it. ‘I personally was scared to pass by Block 11,’ says Józef Paczyński.38 ‘I was really afraid.’ Inmates felt this way because Block 11 was a prison within a prison – a place of torture and murder.

Jerzy Bielecki was one of the few who experienced what happened in Block 11 and lived to tell the story. He was sent there because one morning he woke up so sick and exhausted that he felt unable to work. In Auschwitz there was no possibility of asking for a day’s rest to recover, so he tried to conceal himself in the camp and hope his absence would not be noticed. To begin with he hid in the latrines, but he knew there was a strong risk of capture if he spent the whole day there, so he left and tried to pretend he was cleaning up around the camp. Unfortunately he was caught by a guard and sent to Block 11 for punishment.

He was led up the stairs to the attic. ‘I walked in and the [roof] tiles were hot,’ he says. ‘It was a beautiful day in August. And there was this stench and I could hear someone moaning, “Jesus, oh Jesus!” It was dark – the only light came through the tiles.’ He looked up and saw a man hanging from the roof beam by his hands, which were tied behind his back. ‘The SS man brought a stool and said, “Climb on it.” I put my hands behind my back and he took a chain and tied them.’ Once the SS man had attached him to the beam by a chain he suddenly kicked away the stool. ‘I just felt – Jesus Mary – it was terrible pain! I was moaning and he told me, “Shut up, you! You dog! You deserve to suffer!”’ Then the SS man left him.

The pain as he hung suspended with his hands and arms pulled behind him was appalling: ‘And of course the sweat was pouring down my nose and it’s very hot and I’m saying, “Mummy!” And after an hour my shoulders were breaking out from their joints. The other guy wasn’t saying anything. Then another SS guard came. He went to the other guy and released him. My eyes were closed. I’d been hanging without a spirit – without a soul. But what reached me was something the SS man was saying. He said, “Just fifteen more minutes.”’

Jerzy Bielecki remembers little more until the same SS man returned. ‘“Lift your legs,” he said. But I couldn’t do it. He took my legs, put one on the stool and then another one. He let the chain loose and I fell from the stool on to my knees and he helped me. He raised my right hand up and said, “Hold it.” But I didn’t feel my arms. He said, “This will pass after an hour.” And I walked down, barely, with the SS man. He was a very compassionate guard.’

Jerzy Bielecki’s story is remarkable for a number of reasons, not least his own personal courage under torture. But perhaps what is most surprising is the contrast between the two SS guards – the one who without warning sadistically kicked away the stool he was standing on, and the ‘compassionate’ guard who helped him down after the torture was over. It is an important reminder that just as the Kapos could vary widely in temperament, so could the SS. A common theme amongst the reminiscences of camp survivors is that there was no single identikit model of their captors. Crucial to surviving in the camp was the ability to read the different characters, not just of the Kapos but of the SS as well. On such a talent could rest your life.

Even though Jerzy Bielecki emerged crippled from Block 11, he was still fortunate because it was very likely that if you walked up those concrete steps and in through the front door you would never emerge alive. During interrogations the Nazis tortured the inmates of Block 11 in a variety of horrific ways; not just using the back-breaking method of hanging suffered by Bielecki, but also by whipping prisoners, practising water torture, putting needles under their fingernails, searing them with red-hot irons, and pouring petrol over the inmates and setting them alight. The SS at Auschwitz also used their initiative to devise new tortures, as former prisoner Bolesław Zbozień observed when an inmate was brought to the camp hospital from Block 11: ‘A favourite method, particularly in wintertime, was holding the prisoner’s head on the coke heating stove as a way of extracting testimony. The face would be completely fried … That man [brought from Block 11 to the hospital] was completely fried and his eyes were burned out, but he could not die … The Politische Abteilung [Political Department] staff still needed him … that prisoner died after several days, without ever having lost consciousness.’39

In those days Block 11 was the empire of SS Untersturmführer (2nd Lieutenant) Max Grabner, one of the most notorious of the camp personnel. Before joining the SS Grabner had been a cowherd, but now he had the power of life and death over the prisoners in his block. Every week he would ‘dust out the bunker’, a process that consisted of Grabner and his colleagues deciding the fate of each of the prisoners in Block 11. Some would be left in their cells, others sentenced to ‘Penal Report 1’ or ‘Penal Report 2’. ‘Penal Report 1’ meant a flogging or some other torture. ‘Penal Report 2’ meant immediate execution. Those sentenced to death were first taken to the washrooms on the ground floor of Block 11 and ordered to undress. Once naked, they were taken out of a side door into a secluded courtyard. The yard between Block 11 and Block 10 was bricked off from the rest of the camp, the only space between blocks treated in this way. In this courtyard prisoners were murdered. They were taken to the brick wall – known in camp jargon as ‘the screen’ – furthest from the block entrance with their arms held tight by a Kapo. Once they reached the far wall, a small-calibre gun (used in order to minimize the noise) would be held close against their head by an SS executioner and they would be shot.

But it was not just the inmates of Auschwitz who suffered in Block 11 – this was also the location of the Police Summary Court for the German Kattowitz (the former Polish Katowice) area. Thus it was possible for Poles arrested by the Gestapo to come straight to Block 11 from the outside world without passing through the rest of the camp. One of the judges in such cases was Dr Mildner, an SS Obersturmbannführer (Lieutenant Colonol) and State Councillor. Perry Broad, a member of the SS who worked in Auschwitz, described how the sadistic Mildner liked to conduct his business: ‘A youth of sixteen was led into the room. Unbearable hunger had driven him to steal some food from a shop – he therefore fell into the category of “criminal” cases. After reading the death sentence, Mildner slowly put the paper on the table and directed his penetrating gaze at the pale, poorly clad boy standing there at the door. “Have you a mother?” The boy lowered his eyes and replied in a quiet voice: “Yes.” “Are you afraid to die?” asked the relentless bull-necked butcher, who seemed to derive a sadistic pleasure from the suffering of his victim. The youth was silent, but his body trembled slightly. “You shall be shot today,” said Mildner, trying to give his voice a full, fateful significance. “You would be hanged anyway, some day. You will be dead in an hour.”’40

According to Broad, Mildner particularly enjoyed talking to women immediately after he had sentenced them to death: ‘He would tell them in the most drastic manner about their imminent death by shooting.’

Yet despite the horrors of Block 11, Auschwitz at this stage of its evolution still clung to some of the attributes of a traditional concentration camp such as Dachau. Nothing illustrates more clearly this lack of conceptual difference than the fact that, contrary to popular myth, it was possible in those early months to be incarcerated in Auschwitz, serve time there, and then be released.

Just before Easter 1941 Władysław Bartoszewski,41 a Polish political prisoner, was in the hospital in Block 20 when two SS men approached him. ‘They told me, “Get out!” I didn’t get any explanation, didn’t know what was happening. It was a shock because there was a change in my situation, and my colleagues around me didn’t know what was going to happen. I was terrified.’ He soon learnt that he was to be taken to appear before a panel of German doctors. On the way to see them a Polish doctor, an inmate, whispered to him, ‘If they ask you, say you’re healthy and that you feel well, because if you say you’re sick they won’t release you.’ Bartoszewski was shocked at the sudden news that he might be able to leave the camp. ‘Are they to release me?’ he asked the Polish doctors in wonder and excitement; but they just replied ‘Shut up!’

One major obstacle now stood in the way of Władysław Bartoszewski’s release – his physical state. ‘I had great boils on my back, on my hips, on the back of my head and nape of my neck. These Polish doctors put a lot of balm on me and powdered the boils so I’d look a little better. They told me, “Don’t fear, they’ll not look too closely at you, but you shouldn’t say anything, that would be against the rules, because no one is sick here, right?” Then they took me before the German doctor and I didn’t even look at him. The Polish doctors were eager and said, “Everything’s OK.” And the German doctor just bowed his head.’

Having passed this cursory medical examination, Bartoszewski was taken to the camp chancellery where the clothes he was wearing when he entered the camp were returned to him. ‘They didn’t give me back my golden cross,’ he says. ‘They kept that as a souvenir.’ Then, almost in a parody of a normal prison release, the SS asked if he had any complaints about his stay. ‘I was cunning,’ he says, ‘and I said, “No.” They asked: “Are you satisfied with your stay in the camp?” I said, “Yes.” And I had to sign a form that I had no complaints and I will not go against the law. I didn’t know what law they had in mind because as a Pole I was not interested in German law. Our law was represented by our government in exile in London. But, of course, that was not the conversation I had with these guys.’

Together with three other Poles who were released that day Bartoszewski was escorted by a German guard to Auschwitz railway station and put on a train. As the train pulled away he felt keenly ‘those first minutes of freedom’. Ahead of him lay a lengthy journey home, back to his mother in Warsaw. On the train, ‘People shook their heads. Some women were wiping their eyes out of compassion. You could see they were moved. They just asked, “Where are you coming from?” We said, “Auschwitz.” There was no comment – just a look, just fear.’ Eventually, late that night, Bartoszewski arrived at his mother’s flat in Warsaw. ‘She was amazed to see me. She threw herself on me and embraced me. From above her I saw this white strand of hair on her head, which was the first change I noticed. She didn’t look too well. No one looked very well at that time.’

Altogether several hundred prisoners were released in a similar manner from Auschwitz. No one knows for certain why these individuals were chosen. But in Bartoszewski’s case it seems that public pressure might have played a part since the Red Cross and other institutions had been campaigning for his release. That the Nazis were susceptible to international pressure over prisoners at this time is confirmed by the fate of a number of Polish academics arrested in November 1939. Professors at the Jagiellonian University in Kraków were snatched from their lecture rooms as part of the purge of the intelligentsia and imprisoned in a variety of concentration camps, including Dachau. Fourteen months later the surviving academics were released, almost certainly as a result of pressure from the outside world, including representations from the Pope.

Meantime, Auschwitz entered a new and crucial phase of its evolution as another German had a ‘vision’ that would further affect the development of the camp. Dr Otto Ambros of I.G. Farben, the giant industrial conglomerate, was looking for a suitable site for a synthetic rubber factory in the East. He was only searching for such a location at all because the war had taken a different course from the one anticipated by the Nazi leadership. Just as Himmler had imagined in May 1940 that it was possible the Jews could be transported to Africa because the war would soon be over, so did I.G. Farben imagine at that time that it was unnecessary to pursue the difficult and expensive process of producing synthetic rubber and fuel. Once the war was over – say, at the latest, autumn 1940 – plenty of raw materials would be available from outside the Reich, not least from Germany’s own new colonies seized from its enemies.

But now, in November 1940, the war was demonstrably not over. Churchill had refused to make peace and the RAF had repulsed German air attacks during the Battle of Britain. Once again German planners had to react to the unexpected. Indeed, it is a recurring theme of this history that the Nazi leadership constantly has to contend with events they have not properly anticipated. Always they are driven by a sense of enormous ambition and optimism – anything can be accomplished by ‘will’ alone – and then they are pulled short either by their own lack of planning and foresight, or because their enemy is stronger than their own inflated sense of themselves ever allowed.

At I.G. Farben, expansion plans that had been shelved because of the expected imminent end of the war were now hurriedly dusted off and implemented. Although not a nationalized company, I.G. Farben was nonetheless hugely sympathetic to the needs and desires of the Nazi leadership. The Nazis’ Four Year Plan had called for a Buna (synthetic rubber) plant to be built in the East, and now, after much discussion, I.G. Farben agreed to site one in Silesia.42 Synthetic rubber was produced by taking coal and subjecting it to a process called hydrogenation, which involved passing hydrogen gas over coal at high temperature. Without lime, water and, crucially, coal, no Buna plant could function. A necessary precondition of any site, therefore, was ready access to these essential raw materials. In addition, I.G. Farben insisted on there being a developed transport and housing infrastructure in the area surrounding any proposed plant.

After poring over maps and plans, Otto Ambros believed he had hit upon a suitable site for I.G. Farben’s new Buna plant about 3 miles east of the Auschwitz camp. But the proximity of the concentration camp was not a major factor in the initial decision to locate the Buna factory in the Auschwitz area. I.G. Farben was more interested in using the incoming ethnic Germans as workers than in relying solely upon slave labour.

Himmler’s attitude to the news that I.G. Farben was interested in coming to Auschwitz can best be described as schizophrenic. As Reichsführer SS, Himmler had doubts about the move. Up to now he had ensured that prisoners in the concentration camp system worked only for SS-run enterprises. The precedent of prisoners working for private industry – with the money for their labour eventually routed to the Nazi state rather than kept entirely in the hands of the SS – was not one Himmler was keen to encourage. Even though the SS would make money selling I.G. Farben gravel, Himmler clearly had more elaborate ambitions for his own SS-run concerns which this arrangement prevented.

However, in his capacity as Reich Commissar for the Strengthening of German Nationhood, Himmler was a good deal less discouraging. He knew about I.G. Farben’s need for ethnic Germans and was happy to try to provide them. Finding accommodation for the incoming workforce would not be a problem. The Auschwitz authorities were happy to ‘turn out’43 the Jews and Poles who lived in the town in order to make room for them. In the end the final decision was taken by Goering in his role as head of the Economic Four Year Plan: I.G. Farben would build their factory near to Auschwitz concentration camp and Himmler and the SS were expected to cooperate with them.44

This interest from I.G. Farben transformed Auschwitz from a minor camp within the SS system into potentially one of its most important components. Symptomatic of this change in the camp’s status was Himmler’s decision to make his first visit to the camp on 1 March 1941. In his memoirs and during his interrogation after the war Hoess supplied a detailed account of the visit, during which Himmler gave free reign to his megalomaniacal tendencies. If Himmler’s vision of Auschwitz as an agricultural research station had been ambitious in November, his dream in March was positively gargantuan. With his initial doubts about the wisdom of I. G. Farben’s presence now firmly set to one side, Himmler breezily announced that the camp would no longer contain 10,000 inmates but be expanded to hold 30,000. The Gauleiter of Upper Silesia, Fritz Bracht, who was accompanying Himmler, raised objections to such a rapid expansion. Another local official chipped in with the received wisdom that the drainage problems of the site remained unresolved. Himmler merely told them that they should consult experts and they should solve the problem themselves. He summed up the discussion with the words: ‘Gentlemen, the camp will be expanded. My reasons for it are far more important than your objections.’45

Subservient as he was to Himmler, Hoess felt so strongly about the difficulty of implementing his master’s new vision that he waited until only he, Himmler and the Higher SS and Police Leader for the Southeast, Erich von dem Bach-Zelewski, were all alone in the car together and then launched into a litany of complaints. He was short of building materials, he objected, he was short of staff, he was short of time – in fact he was short of everything. Himmler reacted in a predictable way: ‘I want to hear no more about difficulties!’ he said. ‘For an SS officer there are no difficulties! When they come up, it’s his job to get rid of them. How you do that is your business, not mine.’

What is significant about this exchange is not so much Himmler’s response to Hoess’s grumbling, but more that Hoess felt able to talk to the head of the SS in this way at all. In the Soviet system anyone who talked to Stalin or Beria (head of the NKVD secret police and Himmler’s nearest equivalent in Moscow) in such a manner risked their life. Strange as it may seem at first sight, the Nazi leadership tolerated much more internal criticism from its supporters than did the Stalinist system. And this is one reason why the Third Reich was the more dynamic of the two political regimes, with functionaries lower down the chain of command free to use their initiative and voice their views. Unlike most of those who committed crimes under Stalin, Hoess was never acting out of fear of terrible retribution if he questioned an order. He had joined the SS because he believed wholeheartedly in the overall Nazi vision, and this meant he felt free to criticize the details of its implementation. He was that most powerful of subordinates, someone who was doing his job not because he was told to, but because he believed that what he was doing was right.

Of course, feeling free to criticize your superior over detail and actually accomplishing anything through such criticism are two different things. And Hoess accomplished nothing by complaining to Himmler: the Reichsführer’s vision for the expansion of Auschwitz concentration camp was to be implemented regardless. As Hoess mournfully concluded, ‘The Reichsführer was always more interested in hearing positive reports rather than negative ones.’

In the wake of I.G. Farben’s decision to build a Buna plant in Auschwitz, Himmler did not confine his grandiose ideas to the camp but expanded his vision to encompass the town and surrounding area. At a planning meeting in Kattowitz on 7 April, his representative announced: ‘It is the aim of the Reichsführer to create on this spot an exemplary Eastern settlement, special attention being paid to settling here German men and women who are particularly qualified.’46 Plans were drawn up for a new German town of Auschwitz to hold 40,000 people, and these plans went hand in hand with the expansion of the nearby concentration camp.

Around this time Hoess also came to recognize the potential usefulness of the relationship with I.G. Farben. The minutes of a meeting held on 27 March 194147 between Auschwitz officials and company representatives reveal just how he sought to gain an advantage for the camp. After one of the I.G. Farben engineers asked how many prisoners could be supplied over the coming years, ‘Sturmbannführer [Major] Hoess pointed out the difficulties of accommodating a sufficient number of inmates in Auschwitz concentration camp, the main problem being that it is not possible for the construction of accommodation to proceed at full speed.’ What was preventing this, Hoess declared, was a lack of raw materials. This was, of course, the same difficulty he had just been haranguing Himmler about and that he had previously attempted to solve himself by travelling the countryside and ‘pilfering’ barbed wire. Hoess now argued that if I.G. Farben would help to ‘speed up the extension of the camp’ then ‘this would, after all, be in their own interest, because only in this way could the deployment of sufficient prisoners be achieved’. At last Hoess appeared to have found an audience sympathetic to his difficulties, as the gentlemen from I.G. Farben agreed to ‘take on the task of finding out whether it is possible to assist the camp’.

During the same meeting I.G. Farben agreed to pay a daily ‘all-inclusive’ sum of 3 Reichsmark per unskilled worker and 4 Reichsmark per skilled worker, and ‘work performance [for each camp prisoner]’ was ‘estimated as being 75 per cent of that of a normal German worker’. Agreement was also reached on the price I.G. Farben would be charged per cubic metre of gravel dug by camp inmates from the nearby Soła river. Overall, ‘the entire negotiations were conducted in cordial harmony. Both sides emphasized their wish to assist each other in every way possible.’

But vast as Himmler’s and I.G. Farben’s plans for Auschwitz were, they were dwarfed by the far-reaching decisions being made by Nazi strategists back in Berlin. For some months officers of the High Command of the German armed forces had been working on plans for the invasion of the Soviet Union, codenamed Operation Barbarossa. At a meeting at his Bavarian retreat, the Berghof, back in July 1940, Hitler had announced to his military commanders that the best way to bring a swift end to the war was to destroy the Soviet Union. He believed that Britain only stayed in the war in the hope that Stalin would eventually break the non-aggression pact signed with the Nazis in August 1939. If the Germans destroyed the Soviet Union, then, he thought, Britain would make peace and the Nazis would be the undisputed masters of Europe. This single decision would shape the course of the war, indeed the course of the whole history of Europe for the rest of the century. As a result of the invasion, 27 million Soviet citizens would die, greater losses than any nation in history has ever sustained as a consequence of a single conflict. And the war would also provide the context for the implementation of the Nazis’ ‘Final Solution’ – the extermination of the Jews. It is thus impossible to understand the way in which Auschwitz was now to develop without setting the changes at the camp in the context of both the planning for Operation Barbarossa and the course of the war in the summer and autumn of 1941. Indeed, from this point until Hitler committed suicide on 30 April 1945 the progress, or lack of it, of the war in the East would dominate Nazi thinking.

The Nazis believed this was not a war against the ‘civilized’ nations of the West, but a fight to the death against Judeo-Bolshevik ‘subhumans’. As a consequence, Franz Halder, Chief of the Army General Staff, recorded in his diary on 17 March 1941 that in Russia ‘force must be used in its most brutal form’ and ‘The intelligentsia put in by Stalin must be exterminated.’ This attitude meant that it was possible for economic planners to come up with a devastating solution to the problem of feeding the German army during its advance into the Soviet Union. A document of 2 May 1941 from the Wehrmacht’s central economic agency states that ‘the entire German army’ would have to ‘be fed at the expense of Russia’. The consequence of this was clear: ‘Thereby tens of millions of men will undoubtedly starve to death if we take away all we need from the country.’48 Three weeks later, on 23 May, another even more radical document was produced by the same agency. Entitled ‘Political-Economic Guidelines for the Economic Organization East’, it states that the goal now was to use Russian resources not just for feeding the German army, but also for supplying Nazi-controlled Europe. As a consequence, 30 million people in the northern part of the Soviet Union might die of starvation.49

Recent research has demonstrated that such shocking documents do not represent a thought process that was merely expedient; there existed a strand of intellectual thinking within the Nazi movement that saw such population reduction as economically justified. Working to a theory of ‘optimum population size’, Nazi economic planners could examine any area and work out, simply from the number of people living there, whether the land would produce a profit or a loss. For example, German economist Helmut Meinhold of the Institute for German Development Work in the East calculated in 1941 that 5.83 million Poles (including old people and children) were ‘surplus’ to requirements.50 The existence of this surplus population meant ‘an actual erosion of capital’. The people who constituted this excess population were ‘Ballastexistenzen’ – a ‘waste of space’. At this stage such economists had not followed their own logic through – they were not calling for the physical extermination of these Ballastexistenzen in Poland. But these planners did note how Stalin had dealt with similar overpopulation in the Soviet Union. In the Ukraine during the 1930s a policy of deportation of the kulak (rich peasant) class and collectivization of the remainder had led to the deaths of around 9 million people.

Such thinking also gave an intellectual underpinning to the civilian deaths that were expected to result from the German invasion of the Soviet Union; to the Nazi planners, the fact that ‘30 million people’ might die of starvation would not only be of immediate benefit to the advancing German army, it would also have a long-term benefit for the German people. Fewer people to feed in the Soviet Union would not only mean that more food could be transported west for the citizens of Munich or Hamburg, it would also facilitate the swift Germanization of the occupied territories. Himmler had already noted that most Polish farms were too small to support a German family and now, he no doubt believed, mass starvation would ease the creation of great German estates in the Soviet Union. Just before the invasion was launched Himmler spoke frankly to his colleagues at a weekend party: ‘The purpose of the Russian campaign [is] to decimate the Slavic population by 30 millions.’51

The prospect of war against the Soviet Union clearly released the most radical ideas imaginable in the minds of leading Nazis. When Hitler wrote to Mussolini to tell him of his decision to invade the Soviet Union, he confessed that now he felt ‘spiritually free’; and that ‘spiritual freedom’ consisted of the ability to act during this conflict in any way he liked. As Goebbels, Hitler’s propaganda chief, wrote in his diary on 16 June 1941: ‘The Führer says that we must gain victory, no matter whether we do right or wrong. We have so much to answer for anyhow …’

It was also clear from this planning stage of the war that the Jews of the Soviet Union were to suffer grievously. In a speech to the Reichstag on 30 January 1939 Hitler had made an explicit connection between any future world war and the elimination of the Jews: ‘I want today to be a prophet again: if international finance and Jewry inside and outside Europe should succeed in plunging the nations once more into a world war, the result will be not the Bolshevization of the earth and thereby the victory of Jewry, but the annihilation of the Jewish race in Europe.’52 Hitler used the term ‘Bolshevization’ specifically to emphasize the linkage in Nazi racial theory between Communism and Judaism. In his mind the Soviet Union was the home of a Bolshevik–Jewish conspiracy. It mattered not that Stalin himself had clear anti-Semitic tendencies. The Nazi fantasy was that Jews secretly pulled the strings throughout Stalin’s empire.

To deal with the perceived threat from the Jews of the Soviet Union, four Einsatzgruppen were formed. Similar operational squads of the Security Service (part of the SS) and Security Police had previously functioned in the wake of both the Anschluss in Austria and the invasion of Poland. Their task, operating just behind the front line, had been to root out ‘enemies of the state’. In Poland the Einsatzgruppen had conducted terror operations in which around 15,000 Poles – mostly Jews or members of the intelligentsia – had been killed. That total was to be dwarfed by the actions of the Einsatzgruppen in the Soviet Union.

The murderous effect of these units was, initially, to be out of all proportion to their size. Einsatzgruppe A, attached to Army Group North, was the largest, with a complement of 1000 men. The remaining three (B, C and D), attached to the other army groups, each contained between 600 and 700 soldiers. Just before the invasion the leaders of these Einsatzgruppen were briefed by Heydrich on their tasks. The orders he issued were later compiled in a directive of 2 July 1941, which stated that the Einsatzgruppen were charged with killing Communist politicians, political commissars and ‘Jews in the service of the party or the state’. The Nazis’ obsession with the link between Judaism and Communism is thus made explicit in Heydrich’s directive.

During the early days of the invasion the Einsatzgruppen moved into the Soviet Union behind the German army. Progress was swift, and by 23 June, just one day into the attack, Einsatzgruppe A, under the command of Police General and SS Brigadeführer (Brigadier) Dr Walter Stahlecker, reached Kaunas in Lithuania. Immediately they arrived the Einsatzgruppe incited pogroms against the Jews of the town. Significantly, Heydrich’s directive had contained the words: ‘No steps will be taken to interfere with any purges that may be initiated by anti-Communist or anti-Jewish elements in the newly occupied territories. On the contrary, these are to be secretly encouraged.’ What this instruction demonstrates is that killing ‘Jews in the service of the party or the state’ constituted the bare minimum that was expected of the Einsatzgruppen. As Stahlecker wrote in a subsequent report: ‘The task of the security police was to set these purges in motion and put them on the right track so as to ensure that the liquidation goals that had been set might be achieved in the shortest time.’53 In Kaunas, Lithuanians who had just been released from prison clubbed Jews to death in the street, under the benign gaze of the Germans. Some of the large crowd that gathered to watch the killings shouted out, ‘Beat the Jews!’ to encourage the murderers. After the killing was over one of the murderers climbed on top of the bodies, took out an accordion and played the Lithuanian national anthem. This was, no doubt, exactly the kind of action Heydrich wished his men to ‘secretly encourage’.

Mostly away from the main towns, the Einsatzgruppen carried out their work of selecting ‘Jews in the service of the party or the state’ and killing them. In practice, this often meant that all male Jews in a village would be shot. After all, according to Nazi theory, which male Jew in the Soviet Union was not implicitly ‘in the service of the party or the state’?

As the Einsatzgruppen and associated SS units carried on killing Soviet Jews, the regular German army too participated in war crimes. Under the infamous Barbarossa decree and commissar order, partisan fighters were shot out of hand, collective reprisals against whole communities were ordered and Soviet political officers – the commissars – were killed even after being captured as prisoners of war. And it was because of the Nazi attitude towards these commissars that Auschwitz was to become involved in the conflict. Under an agreement with the SS, the German army allowed Heydrich’s men into the POW camps to weed out any commissars who had slipped through the initial selection of prisoners on the front line. The question then was: where should these commissars be taken? It was clearly not ideal from the Nazi point of view to murder them in front of their comrades, which is why, in July 1941, several hundred commissars who had been found in the ordinary POW camps were shipped to Auschwitz.

From the moment of their arrival these prisoners were treated differently from the other inmates. Incredibly, given the suffering that already existed in the camp, as a group they were treated worse. Jerzy Bielecki heard the sound of their mistreatment before he saw them: ‘It was a great yelling and moaning and roaring.’ He and a friend made their way towards the gravel pits on the edge of the camp where they saw the Soviet prisoners. ‘They were pushing these wheelbarrows full of sand and gravel whilst running,’ he says. ‘It was very difficult. The planks they pushed the wheelbarrows over were sliding from side to side. It was not normal work; it was a hell that the SS men created for those Soviet prisoners of war.’ The Kapos beat the commissars with sticks as they worked, encouraged by the watching SS who yelled, ‘Boys! Hit them!’ But it was what he saw next that particularly shocked Jerzy Bielecki: ‘There were four or five SS men with guns. And those that had a gun from time to time would load it, look down, take aim and then shoot into the gravel pit. Then my friend said, “What is that son of a bitch doing?” And we saw that a Kapo was hitting a dying man with a stick. My friend had army training and he said, “Those are prisoners of war. They have rights!” But they were being killed while working.’ In such a manner, during the summer of 1941, the war on the Eastern Front – the war without rules – came to Auschwitz.

The murder of the Soviet commissars was, of course, only a small part of the function of Auschwitz during this period; above all else the camp remained a place to oppress and instill terror into the Polish prisoners. And in striving to make the institution perform that service for the Nazi state, Hoess constantly tried to limit the number of escapes. Only two people attempted to escape in 1940, but that number increased to 17 in 1941 (and was to rise still further, leaping to 173 in 1942, 295 in 1943 and 312 in 1944).54 Because in the early years the vast majority of the inmates were Poles, and the locals were sympathetic to their cause, once a prisoner had evaded the camp security it was possible to avoid recapture permanently – to vanish into the maelstrom of population movement caused by the ethnic reorganizations. Since many inmates worked away from the camp during the day, it was not even necessary for them to cross the electrified wire that surrounded the camp itself. They needed to surmount only one obstacle, the outside perimeter fence, the so-called Grosse Postenkette.

Hoess’s policy to prevent these escapes was simple: brutal retribution. If the Nazis could not capture the person who had escaped they would imprison his relatives. They would also select ten prisoners from the block where he had lived and put them to death in a deliberately sadistic way. Roman Trojanowski participated in three separate selections during 1941 after escapes had been detected from his block. ‘The Lagerführer and others would look into the eyes of the prisoners and choose,’ he says. ‘Of course, those who looked worse, those who were the weakest, they were the ones most likely to be chosen. I don’t know what I thought about during the selection. I just didn’t want to look into his eyes – this could be dangerous. You want to stand straight so that no one will notice you. And when Fritzsch stopped by somebody and pointed his finger, it wasn’t certain where he was pointing and your heart would stop.’ Trojanowski remembers one selection that epitomized the mentality of Karl Fritzsch, the Lagerführer: ‘During such a selection Fritzsch noticed a man who was standing shivering not far from me. He asked him, “Why are you shivering?” And through the translator the man said, “I’m shivering because I’m afraid. I have several small children at home and I want to bring them up, I don’t want to die.” And Fritzsch answered, “Watch out and see it doesn’t happen again, because if it does I’ll send you there.” And he pointed to the chimney of the crematorium. The man didn’t understand, and because of Fritzsch’s gesture he stepped forward. And the translator said, “The Lagerführer is not selecting you, go back.” But Fritzsch said, “Leave him. If he stepped out, then that is his destiny.”’

The selected inmates were taken to the cellars of Block 11 and locked in a cell where they were left to starve to death. It was a slow and agonizing process. Roman Trojanowski learnt that one person he knew was reduced to eating his own shoes after more than a week without food. But during the summer of 1941 the starvation cells were also the site of one of the few events in this history that offer any solace for those who believe in the redemptive possibility of suffering. Maksymilian Kolbe, a Roman Catholic priest from Warsaw, was forced to participate in a selection for the starvation cell after an inmate had apparently escaped from his block. A man standing near him, Franciszek Gajowniczek, was selected by Fritzsch, but he called out that he had a wife and children and wanted to live. Kolbe heard him and volunteered to take his place. Fritzsch agreed, and so Kolbe was thrown into the starvation cell as one of the ten selected. Two weeks later the four who were left alive, including Kolbe, were finally murdered by lethal injection. Kolbe was canonized by the Polish Pope John Paul II in 1982. His story has caused considerable controversy, not least because a magazine he published before his arrest carried anti-Semitic material. What remains unchallengeable, however, is Kolbe’s bravery in sacrificing his own life for another.

That same month, July 1941, a series of decisions made thousands of miles away resulted in Auschwitz becoming a still more sinister place. Auschwitz prisoners were about to be murdered by gassing for the first time – but not in the way for which the camp was eventually to become infamous. These inmates were to be killed because they fell victim to the Nazi ‘adult euthanasia’ programme. This murderous operation had its root in a Führer decree of October 1939, which allowed doctors to select chronically mentally ill or physically disabled patients and kill them. Initially chemical injections were used to murder the disabled, but later bottled carbon monoxide became the preferred method. Gas chambers, designed to look like shower rooms, were built in special killing centres, mostly former mental hospitals. Some months before issuing his October 1939 decree, Hitler had authorized the selection and murder of disabled children. In so doing he was following the bleak logic of his own ultra-Darwinian view of the world. Such children forfeited their lives because they were weak and a drain on German society. And, as a profound believer in racial theory, he was concerned in case these children were able to reproduce themselves once they grew to adulthood.

The decree that extended the euthanasia programme to adults was backdated to 1 September and the start of the war – another sign that the conflict acted as a catalyst to radicalize Nazi thinking. The disabled were, to these fanatical National Socialists, another example of Ballastexistenzen, now especially burdensome to a country at war. Dr Pfannmüller, one of the most notorious figures within the adult euthanasia programme, expressed his feelings this way: ‘The idea is unbearable to me that the best, the flower of our youth must lose its life at the front in order that the feeble-minded and irresponsible asocial elements can have a secure existence in the asylum.’55 Not surprisingly, given the mentality of the perpetrators, the selection criteria included not just the severity of the mental or physical illness but also the religious or ethnic background of the patient. Thus Jews in mental hospitals were sent to be gassed without selection, and in the East similar draconian methods were used to clear Polish asylums of patients. Between October 1939 and May 1940 around 10,000 mental patients were killed in West Prussia and the Warthegau, many by the use of a new technique – a gas chamber on wheels. Victims were shoved into a hermetically sealed compartment in the back of a converted van and then asphyxiated by bottled carbon monoxide. Significantly, the living space thus released was used to house the incoming ethnic Germans.

At the start of 1941 the adult euthanasia campaign was extended to concentration camps in an action known as 14f13, and the programme reached Auschwitz on 28 July. ‘During evening roll-call it was said that all the sick could leave to be healed,’ says Kazimierz Smoleń,56 then a political prisoner at the camp. ‘Some inmates believed it. Everyone had hope. But I wasn’t so convinced of the good intentions of the SS.’ Neither was Wilhelm Brasse, who listened to his Kapo, a German Communist, describe what he thought the fate of the sick would be: ‘He told us that in Sachsenhausen camp he had heard rumours that people are taken from hospitals and that they disappear somewhere.’

Around 500 sick inmates – a combination of volunteers and those selected – were marched out of the camp to a waiting train. ‘They were all worn out,’ says Kazimierz Smoleń. ‘There were no healthy people. It was a march of spectres. At the end of the line were nurses carrying people on stretchers. It was macabre. No one yelled at them or laughed. The sick people were pleased, saying, “Let my wife and children know about me.”’ Much to the joy of the remaining prisoners, two of the most notorious Kapos were included in the transport, one of them the hated Krankemann. The rumour in the camp was that he had fallen out with his protector, the Lagerführer Fritzsch. Both Kapos, in fulfilment of Himmler’s prediction of the fate of Kapos once they had returned to ordinary prison life, were almost certainly murdered on the train before it reached its destination. All the other inmates who left the camp that day died in a gas chamber in a converted mental hospital at Sonnenstein near Danzig. The first Auschwitz prisoners to be gassed were therefore not killed in the camp but transported to Germany, and they were not murdered because they were Jews but because they could no longer work.

The summer of 1941 was not only a crucial time in the development of Auschwitz, it was also a decisive moment in both the course of the war against the Soviet Union and the Nazis’ policy towards the Soviet Jews. Superficially, during July the war seemed to be going well, with the Wehrmacht making good progress against the Red Army. As early as 3 July Franz Halder of the German High Command wrote in his diary, ‘It is thus probably no overstatement to say that the Russian campaign has been won in the space of two weeks.’ Goebbels echoed such thoughts in his own diary on 8 July, writing, ‘No one doubts any more that we shall be victorious in Russia.’ By mid-July Panzer units were 350 miles inside the Soviet Union, and by the end of the month a Soviet intelligence officer – on the orders of Beria, Himmler’s Soviet counterpart – was approaching the Bulgarian ambassador in Moscow to see if he would act as an intermediary with the Germans and sue for peace.57

But on the ground the situation was more complex. The policy of starvation, which had been such a central part of the invasion strategy, meant that, for example, Vilnius, the capital of Lithuania, had by the start of July food supplies for only two weeks. And Goering stated clear Nazi policy when he said that the only people who were entitled to be fed by the invading force were those ‘performing important tasks for Germany’.58 There was also the unresolved question of the dependants of those Jewish men who had been shot by the Einsatzgruppen. These women and children, having in most cases lost their breadwinners, were liable to starve especially swiftly; they were certainly not ‘performing important tasks for Germany’.

Meanwhile, a crisis over food supply was predicted, not just on the Eastern Front but back in Poland in the Łódź ghetto. In July Rolf-Heinz Hoeppner of the SS wrote to Adolf Eichmann, who was in charge of the section dealing with Jewish affairs in the Reich Security Main Office: ‘This winter there is a danger that not all the Jews can be fed any more. One should weigh honestly if the most humane solution might not be to finish off those of the Jews who are not fit for work by means of some quick-working device. At any rate, that would be more pleasant than to let them starve to death.’ (It is significant that Hoeppner writes of the potential need to kill those Jews ‘not fit to work’ – not all the Jews. Increasingly, from the spring of 1941, the Nazis were making a distinction between Jews who were useful to the Germans and those who were not, a distinction that would later become crystallized in the infamous ‘selections’ of Auschwitz.)

At the end of July Himmler issued orders that were to resolve the question of those Jews who were considered ‘useless eaters’ by the Nazis, at least as far as the Eastern Front was concerned. He reinforced the Einsatzgruppen with units of the SS cavalry and police battalions. Eventually around 40,000 men would be involved in the killing, a ten-fold increase in the initial complement of the Einsatzgruppen. This massive increase in manpower was for a reason: the policy of killing in the East was to be extended to include Jewish women and children. The order for this action reached different Einsatzgruppe commanders at different times over the next few weeks, often given by Himmler personally as he went on a tour of the killing fields. But by mid-August all the commanders of the murder squads knew of the expansion in their task.

This moment marks a turning point in the killing process. Once women and children were to be shot, the Nazi persecution of the Jews entered an entirely different conceptual phase. Almost all the Nazi anti-Jewish policies during the war so far had been potentially genocidal, and Jewish women and children had already died in the ghettos or during the failed Nisko emigration. But this was different. Now the Nazis had decided to gather together women and children, make them strip, line them up next to an open pit and shoot them. There could be no pretence that a baby was an immediate threat to the German war effort, but a German soldier would now look at that little child and pull the trigger.

Many factors came together at this crucial time to cause the change in policy. One important precondition was, of course, that the Jewish women and children in the Soviet Union now presented a ‘problem’ for the Nazis – one they had created themselves by a combination of shooting male Jews and instigating a policy of starvation in the East. But that was not the only reason the decision was taken to extend the killing. In July Hitler had announced that he wanted a German ‘Garden of Eden’ in the East, and by implication there would be no place for the Jews in this new Nazi paradise. (And it can surely be no accident that Himmler ordered the extension of the killing to include women and children after attending several secret one-to-one meetings with Hitler in July; this move would not have occurred without the Führer wishing it so.) With killing units already shooting Jewish men, it must have seemed a logical step from the Nazi ideological perspective to send extra men to the murder squads in order to ‘cleanse’ this new ‘Garden of Eden’ completely.

Hans Friedrich59 was a member of one of the SS infantry units that was sent to the East to reinforce the Einsatzgruppen in the summer of 1941. His SS brigade operated primarily in the Ukraine and he says they met no resistance from the Jews they came to murder. ‘They [the Jews] were extremely shocked, utterly frightened and petrified, and you could do what you wanted with them. They had resigned themselves to their fate.’ The SS and their Ukrainian collaborators forced the Jews out of their village and made them stand by a ‘deep, broad ditch. They had to stand in such a way that when they were shot they would fall into the ditch. That then happened again and again. Someone had to go down into the ditch and check conscientiously whether they were still alive or not, because it never happened that they were all mortally wounded at the first shot. And if somebody wasn’t dead and was lying there injured, then he was shot with a pistol.’

Friedrich admits that he himself shot Jews in these pit killings.60 He claims that he thought of ‘nothing’ as he saw his victims standing just a few metres in front of him: ‘I only thought, “Aim carefully so that you hit.” That was my thought. When you’ve got to the point where you’re standing there with a gun ready to shoot … there’s only one thing, a calm hand so that you hit well. Nothing else.’ His conscience has never troubled him over the murders he committed; he has never had a bad dream about the subject or woken in the night and questioned what he did.

Documents confirm that Friedrich was a member of the 1st SS Infantry Brigade, which entered the Ukraine on 23 July. Although Friedrich, either because of the distance of time or out of a desire not to incriminate himself further, is not specific about the exact places where he carried out the killings, the records point to his brigade having participated in a number of murders of Jews in several named places. One such action took place in the western Ukraine on 4 August 1941. Over 10,000 Jews from surrounding villages had been forced from their homes and gathered in the town of Ostrog. ‘Early in the morning [of 4 August] the cars and lorries came,’ says Vasyl Valdeman,61 then a 12-year-old member of a Jewish family. ‘They were armed and came with dogs.’ Having surrounded the town, the SS forced thousands of Jews out towards a nearby hamlet where there was an area of sandy soil. ‘Everyone understood that we were going to be shot,’ says Vasyl Valdeman, ‘but it was impossible for the SS to shoot those amounts of people. We arrived there at ten o’clock [in the morning] and everyone was ordered to sit down. It was very hot. There was no food or water; people were just pissing on the ground. It was a very hard time. Somebody said they would rather be shot than sit there in the hot weather. Someone fainted and some people just died of fear itself.’

Oleksiy Mulevych,62 a non-Jewish villager, saw what happened next. He climbed on to the roof of a nearby barn and witnessed small groups of 50 or 100 Jews being led away from the field and ordered to strip naked. ‘They put the Jews on the edge of a pit,’ he says, ‘and officers told their soldiers to choose a Jew to shoot at … The Jews were crying and shouting. They felt they saw their death … Then everyone shot and the Jews fell immediately. The officer then chose strong Jews to throw the bodies into the pit.’

The shootings continued all day. Several thousand Jews – men, women and children – were murdered, but there were simply too many Jews for the SS to kill everyone in this single action. So at nightfall the remainder, including Vasyl Valdeman and his family, were moved back to Ostrog. In this and subsequent actions Vasyl lost his father, grandmother, grandfather, two brothers and two uncles, but together with his mother he managed to escape from the ghetto and was hidden by local villagers for the next three years until the Red Army liberated the Ukraine. ‘I don’t know about other villages,’ he says, ‘but people in our village helped Jews very much.’ A few days later Oleksiy Mulevych went out to visit the killing fields and saw a gruesome sight: ‘The sand was moving. I think there were wounded people who were moving under the sand. I felt sorry. I wanted to help, but then I understood that even if I took someone from the pit I could not cure them.’

‘We had dogs at our house,’ says Vasyl Valdeman, ‘but we never were as cruel to them as the fascists were to us … I was thinking all the time, “What makes these people so cruel?”’ Hans Friedrich has one answer to Vasyl Valdeman’s question – hatred: ‘If I’m honest I have no empathy [for the Jews]. For the Jews harmed me and my parents so much that I cannot forget.’ As a result, Friedrich is ‘not sorry’ for all the Jews he shot. ‘My hatred towards the Jews is too great.’ When pressed, he admits that he felt, and still feels, justified in killing the Jews out of ‘revenge’.

An understanding of Friedrich’s past is crucial in order to comprehend both why he felt able to take part in the killing and why he feels able to defend his actions today. He was born in 1921 in a part of Romania dominated by ethnic Germans. As he grew up he learnt to hate the Jews he and his family encountered. His father was a farmer and the Jews in the locality acted as traders, buying produce and then selling it on at market. Friedrich was told by his parents that the Jews earned too much profit from their business dealings and that he and his family were regularly cheated by them. ‘I would like to have seen you,’ he adds, ‘if you had experienced what we experienced – if you were a farmer and wanted to sell, say, pigs and you couldn’t do it. You could only do it via a Jewish trader. Try to put yourself in our position. You were no longer master of your own life.’

As adolescents during the 1930s he and his friends painted posters proclaiming, ‘Don’t buy from Jews’ and ‘The Jews are our misfortune’, and hung them over the entrance to a Jewish shop. He felt ‘proud’ as he did this because he had ‘warned against the Jew’. He read the propaganda of the Nazi state, particularly the violently anti-Semitic Der Stürmer, and found that it fitted perfectly with his own developing world-view. In 1940 he joined the SS ‘because the German Reich was at war’ and he ‘wanted to be there’. He believes that ‘there were connections between Jews and Bolshevism – there was sufficient evidence to prove this’. When as a member of the SS he advanced into the Ukraine in the summer of 1941 he believed he wasn’t entering a ‘civilized’ country ‘like France’, but instead somewhere that was at best ‘half civilized’ and ‘far behind Europe’. Then, when asked to kill Jews, he did it willingly, all the time thinking he was taking revenge for the Jewish traders who had allegedly cheated his family. That these were different Jews altogether – Jews, indeed, from another country – mattered not at all. As he puts it, ‘They’re all Jews.’

Far from being sorry for having participated in the extermination of the Jews, Hans Friedrich has no regrets of any kind. Although he never said so in these terms, he gives every impression of being proud of what he and his comrades did. The justification for his actions is, in his mind, clear and absolute: the Jews did him and his family harm, and the world is a better place without them. In an unguarded moment Adolf Eichmann remarked that the knowledge of having participated in the murder of millions of Jews gave him such satisfaction that he would ‘jump laughingly into his grave’. It is easy to see how Hans Friedrich might feel exactly the same emotion.

However, whilst this expansion in the killing was being implemented on the Eastern Front during the summer of 1941, it is less clear that this was the moment at which the whole of the Nazis’ ‘Final Solution’ – encompassing millions more Jews, including those in Germany, Poland and western Europe – was decided upon. One document does perhaps suggest a connection between the two. On 31 July Heydrich obtained Goering’s signature on a paper that stated: ‘To supplement the task that was assigned to you on 24 January 1939, which dealt with the solution of the Jewish problem by emigration and evacuation in the most suitable way, I hereby charge you to submit a comprehensive blueprint of the organizational, subject-related and material preparatory measures for the execution of the intended Final Solution of the Jewish question.’ The timing of this document, on the face of it, is crucial: Goering signs Heydrich’s general authorization for the ‘Final Solution’ of all the Jews under German control at exactly the moment the killing squads are to be used to shoot Jewish women and children in the East.

However, a recent discovery in the Moscow Special Archive casts doubt on the special significance of the 31 July authorization. This document contains a note from Heydrich dated 26 March 1941, which states: ‘With respect to the Jewish question I reported briefly to the Reich Marshal [Goering] and submitted to him my new blueprint, which he authorized with one modification concerning Rosenberg’s jurisdiction, and then ordered for resubmission.’63 Heydrich’s ‘new blueprint’ was most likely a response to the change in the Nazis’ anti-Jewish policy caused by the forthcoming invasion of the Soviet Union. The idea of transporting the Jews to Africa had been abandoned, and early in 1941 Hitler had ordered Heydrich to prepare a scheme to deport the Jews somewhere within German control. Since the war with the Soviet Union was expected to last only a few weeks and be over before the onset of the Russian winter, it was reasonable, Heydrich and Hitler must have felt, to plan for the Jews to be pushed further east that autumn in an internal solution to their self-created Jewish problem. In the wasteland of eastern Russia the Jews would suffer grievously.

As the 31 July authorization makes clear, Heydrich was first assigned the task of planning the ‘solution of the Jewish problem by emigration and evacuation’ at the start of 1939, and so discussions about his jurisdiction and room for manoeuvre within the Nazi state on this issue must have been ongoing since then. Alfred Rosenberg (mentioned in the 26 March document), who was formally appointed Minister of the Occupied Eastern Territories by Hitler on 17 July 1941, was a potential threat to Heydrich’s own power in the East, and the 31 July authorization may well have been issued to help Heydrich clarify his own position.

So on balance the new evidence does not support the once prevalent view that there was some conclusive decision taken by Hitler in the spring or summer of 1941 to order the destruction of all the Jews of Europe, of which the 31 July authorization is an important part. The more likely scenario is that as all the leading Nazis focused their attention on the war against the Soviet Union, the decision to kill the women and children in the East was seen as the practical way of solving an immediate and specific problem.

Nonetheless, this particular ‘solution’ would in turn create further problems, and as a result new killing methods would be devised which would enable Jews and others to be murdered on an even greater scale. A vital moment in that process of transformation occurred on 15 August when Heinrich Himmler visited Minsk and saw at first hand the work of his killing squads. One of those who attended the execution with him was Walter Frentz,64 an officer in the Luftwaffe who was working as a cameraman at Hitler’s headquarters. Not only was Frentz shaken by the killings, it was clear to him that so were some members of the execution squad. ‘I went along to the site of the execution,’ says Frentz, ‘and afterwards the commander of the auxiliary police approached me because I was in the air force. “Lieutenant,” he said, “I can’t take it any more. Can’t you get me out of here?” I said, “Well, I don’t have any influence over the police. I’m in the air force, what am I supposed to do?” “Well,” he said, “I can’t take it any more – it’s terrible!”’

It was not just this particular officer who felt traumatized after the Minsk shootings. SS Obergruppenführer (Lieutenant General) von dem Bach-Zelewski, who witnessed the same killings, said to Himmler: ‘Reichsführer, those were only a hundred … Look at the eyes of the men in this Kommando, how deeply shaken they are! These men are finished for the rest of their lives. What kind of followers are we training here? Either neurotics or savages!’65 Subsequently Bach-Zelewski himself became psychologically ill as a result of the murders, experiencing ‘visions’ of the killings in which he had participated.

As a result of these protests and what he had personally witnessed, Himmler ordered a search for a method of killing that caused fewer psychological problems for his men. Accordingly, a few weeks later Dr Albert Widmann, an SS Untersturmführer (2nd Lieutenant) from the Technical Institute of the Criminal Police, travelled East to meet Artur Nebe, the commander of Einsatzgruppe B, at his headquarters in Minsk. Previously Widmann had been instrumental in devising the gassing technique used to murder mentally ill patients. Now he would bring his expertise East.

Incredibly, one of the first methods Widmann tried in an attempt to ‘improve’ the killing process in the Soviet Union was to blow his victims up. Several mentally ill patients were put in a bunker along with packets of explosives. Wilhelm Jaschke, a captain in Einsatzkommando 8, witnessed what happened next: ‘The sight was atrocious. The explosion hadn’t been powerful enough. Some wounded came out of the dugout crawling and crying …66 The bunker had totally collapsed … Body parts were scattered on the ground and hanging in the trees. On the next day, we collected the body parts and threw them into the bunker. Those parts that were too high in the trees were left there.’67

Widmann learnt from this gruesome experiment that murdering by explosion was clearly not the way forward Himmler desired, so he sought another method. The adult euthanasia programme had successfully used bottled carbon monoxide as a killing method, but it was impractical to transport large numbers of such canisters thousands of miles to the East. Maybe, Widmann and his colleagues thought, there was another way of using carbon monoxide to kill. Some weeks earlier Widmann and his boss, Dr Walter Hess, had been sitting in a carriage on the Berlin underground chatting about the fate that had nearly befallen Artur Nebe. He had returned in his car from a party having had too much to drink, parked in his garage without turning off the engine, and fallen asleep; as a result he had nearly died of carbon monoxide poisoning from the exhaust fumes. It seems that the memory of the drunken Nebe emboldened Widmann to attempt a gassing experiment using a car exhaust connected by a pipe to the brick basement of a mental hospital in Mogilev, east of Minsk. A number of hospital patients were locked in the room and the car engine started. Initially the trial was not successful from the Nazis’ point of view: not enough carbon monoxide flowed from the car to kill the patients. This was rectified when a truck replaced the car. The experiment, again from the Nazis’ perspective, was a success. Widmann had discovered a cheap, effective way of killing people that minimized the psychological impact of the crime on the killers.

So in the autumn of 1941, in the East, Widmann initiated a significant change in the Nazi killing process – that much is certain. But how and when the decision was taken that Auschwitz should become an integral part of the mass extermination of the Jews is still a matter of controversy. Part of the difficulty lies in the testimony given by Hoess. Not only does he tend to present himself as a victim of both Himmler’s demands and his incompetent staff, but also the precision of his dating is often unreliable. Hoess states: ‘In the summer of 1941, Himmler called for me and explained: “The Führer has ordered the Final Solution of the Jewish question – and we have to carry out this task. For reasons of transport and isolation, I have picked out Auschwitz for this.”’68 Hoess did indeed visit Himmler in June 1941 to show the Reichsführer SS how the plans for Auschwitz were developing in the light of the I.G. Farben-initiated expansion, but it is not credible that at this same moment he would have been told that Auschwitz was to be a part of the ‘Final Solution’. In the first place there is no other evidence that a ‘Final Solution’, in the sense of the mechanized extermination of the Jews in death camps, had even been planned at this stage. The meeting predates both the initial killings of Jewish men by the Einsatzgruppen in the East and the subsequent expansion of the killing which began at the end of July. Secondly, Hoess contradicts his own dating by adding that ‘at that time there were already in the General Government three other extermination camps: Bełżec, Treblinka and Sobibór’. But none of these camps was in existence in the summer of 1941, and all three were not functioning until well into 1942.

Some scholars argue that, despite this internal contradiction in his statement, Hoess may possibly have been ordered in June 1941 to establish some extermination facilities at Auschwitz. But the evidence of the development of the killing capacity at the camp over the summer and early autumn of 1941 scarcely confirms that this was initiated by a June meeting with Himmler. The most likely explanation for Hoess’s statement is that he simply misremembered the date. Conversations like the one he described with Himmler could well have happened, but in the following year, not in 1941.

This is not to say, of course, that Auschwitz was uninvolved in the killing process that summer. Indeed, with the expulsion of the sick inmates as part of the 14f13 programme and the shooting of the Soviet commissars in the gravel pits, the authorities at Auschwitz faced a problem not unlike the one the Einsatzgruppen were encountering in the East: the need to find a more effective method of murder. The decisive moment of discovery at Auschwitz appears to have occurred when Hoess was away from the camp, some time in late August or early September. Fritzsch, his deputy, saw a new use for a chemical used to remove the infestations of insects around the camp – crystallized prussic acid (cyanide), sold in tins and marketed under the name Zyklon (for cyclone) Blausäure (for prussic acid), popularly known as Zyklon B. Fritzsch now made the same kind of logical leap at Auschwitz that Widmann was making in the East. If Zyklon B could be used to kill lice, why could it not be used to kill human pests? And since Block 11 was already the place of execution within the camp and its basement could be sealed, was this not the most natural place to conduct an experiment?

Auschwitz at this time was not a camp where such an action could be carried out secretly. There were only a few metres between each block, and gossip was the currency of the place. So Fritzsch’s experiments were common knowledge from the first. ‘I could see that they were bringing in soil in wheelbarrows to insulate the windows,’ says Wilhelm Brasse. ‘And one day I saw them take the severely sick out on stretchers from the hospital and they were taken to Block 11.’ It was not just the sick who were taken to Block 11. Predictably, so were members of the other target group the Auschwitz authorities had previously demonstrated they wanted to kill: Soviet commissars. ‘They gathered Soviet prisoners of war in the basement,’ says August Kowalczyk. ‘But it turned out the gas didn’t work that well and many of the inmates were still alive the next day. So they strengthened the dose. More crystals were poured in.’

On Hoess’s return Fritzsch reported the news of the experiments. Hoess attended the next gassings in Block 11: ‘Protected by a gas mask, I watched the killing myself. In the crowded cells death came instantaneously the moment the Zyklon B was thrown in. A short, almost smothered cry and it was all over.’ Whilst the evidence is that death in Block 11 could be far from ‘instantaneous’, it was certainly the case that for the Nazis at Auschwitz the use of Zyklon B alleviated the process of murder. No longer would the killers have to look into the eyes of their victims as they murdered them. Hoess wrote that he was ‘relieved’ that this new method of killing had been found as he would be ‘spared’ a ‘bloodbath’. He was wrong. The real bloodbath was about to begin.
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